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I. ACRONYMS, ABBREVIATIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS

A: Acronyms and Abbre istions

IPSAS Intemational Public Sector Accounting Standards

IPUCCF Inter Public Universities Council Consultative Forum

MUST Meru University of Science and Technolory

PFM Public Finance Management

PPE Property Plant & Equipment

PSASB Public Sector Accounting Standards Board

SAGAs Semi-Autonomous Government Agencies

VC Vice Churcellor

B: Gloosrry of Tcrms

Flduciery Mrnagement- Members of Management directly entusted with the responsibility of
financial resources of the organisation

Comprratlve Ycar- Means the prior period.

Grrnts in Aid - 8n amount of money given by the government to I Sovemment department or
social organization that is not a business,

l
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2. KEY ENTITY INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT

(e) BackgmuDd informrtion
Through the Legal Notice No.l03 of July 18, 200g, the then Meru college of rechnologr was
upgraded to a constituent college of Jomo Kenyana university of Agriculn[e and rechnolog and
renamed Meru University college of science and rechnologr. on March l, 2013, the University
college acquircd its fully-fledged university status and became Meru University of Science and
Technologr. The Univ€rsity is located l6 km from Meru town along Mou-Mau8 road in Meru county,
Tigania West Constituency.

The University has the following schools, Institutes and Campuses;

Schools
. School ofAgiculture & Food Science
o School of Business & Economics
o School ofComputing & Informatics
o School ofEducation
. School of Engineering & Architecture
. School of Health Sciences
. School of Pure & Applied Sciences
o School ofNursing

lnstltutcs & Campuses
. Sanitation Research Institute. Mariene Research Institute
. Town Campus: Center for continued and

professional studies
. Marimba Leaming Centre

RahLdaiUlbry
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(b) Principal Activities
i. The principal activitics of the University are to:

a) Provide and advance university education and training to appropriately qualified candidates leading

to the conferment ofdegrees and award of diplomas and certificates and such other qualifications as

the Council and the Senate shall from time to time determine and in so doing, contribute to labour

market needs;

b) PIay a leading role in the development and expansion of opportunities for higher education and

research in agriculture, forestry, mining, energ/, water and environmental sciences on arid and semi-

arid lands;

c) Contribute to industrial and technological development through innovations and technologl transfer;

d) Contribute to agriculhral, industrial and technological development of Kenya in collaboration with
industry and other institutions through transfer of appropriate technolos/.

ii. Visiorr-The vision of the University is to be a world class Univenity of excellence in science and

technolory.

ill. Mission-To provide quality University education, training and research in science, technolory and

innovation.

iv. Core Values-The following are the University core calues:

. Comp€titiveness
o Integi9
o Professionalism
. Quality
o Innovation

(c) Key Management

The University's management is under the following key organs:

o The Council
o The Vice Chancellor
. University Senate

o University Management Board

(d) Fiducirry Msnrgement

The key management personnel who held oflice during the financial year ended 306 June 2023 and who had

direct fi duciary responsibility were:

l. VlcoChanoollo

t. Dopty vioo Chrnoo[o (Acidmtq Rcsc.rch ed Sfrrdfiiff 'ffifi,dmlofl[M!il
Afrin) ,.

5. ag: Rcgi*rrr (Aoadomio ard Sutom' Afrits) Uil{ffi'rrmqh
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(e) Fiduciary Overslght Arr1rngements

i) Audlt Commlttee of the Council sctlvities

ii) Finance Committ€e of the Council

The Finance comminee is responsible for monitoring and advising council on the financial health
of the university' including the financial stratery, budget sefting, annual accounts, investment
activity, and consideration of capital expenditure.

(f) The Univ€Bity Headquarters

Meru University ofScience and Technologr
Physical Address: Meru-Maua Road, l6 kilometres from Meru Town
P.O Box 972 - 60200, Meru

(g) The Univenity Contlcts

Telephone: (254) 0704 508 454
E-mail: fi nance@must.ac.ke. vc@must.ac.ke
Website: www.must.ac.ke
P.O Box 972 - 60200, Meru -Kenya

(h) The Univenity Bankers

l. National Bank of Kenya - Meru Branch
P.O Box 1774 - 60200, Mem

2. Kenya Commercial Bank Ltd- Meru Branch
P.O Box - 178 - 60200, Meru

3- Equity Bank -Makutano Branch
P.O. Box 3 137 -60200, Meru

4. Cooperative Bank- Makutano Branch
P.O. Box 1328-60200, Meru

The Audit Committee of the Council assists the Council in fulfilling is responsibilities with
respect to accounting and management control, and financial reporting. Specifically, the Audit
Committee is resporuible for overseeing:

. The intemal audit function and the work ofexternal auditor,

' That the system of the management control in the university is robust and effective and protects
the assets ofthe University on a reasonable and economic basis,

. Ensures that financial information is reliable and accurate.

. Monitors compliance with laws and regulations,

. Provides for proper authorization and rccording of transactions.
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(i) IndependentAudlton

Anditor General

Offrce ofthe Auditor Geireral,

Anniversary Towers, University Way,

P.O. Box 30084 GOP 00100,

Nairobi, Kenya

(j) Prlnctpel Legrl Advlscr

The Attomey General

stst€ t aw ofiic€
Harambee Avenue

P.O. Box 40 I I 2 City Square 00200

Nairobi, Kenya

)
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2. THE UNryERSITY COUNCIL
The University Council is the University's highes goveming body; responsible for setting the general strategic
direction ofthe University, for ensuring proper accountability on management of its finances, property and
investments and the general business ofthe University. lt approves the University,s key policies and plans
pertinent to is three core functions: teaching, research and public service. In this regard, the University
Council makes sure that the University always maintains high standards in the three core areas mentioned
above. To ensure that MUST really does this, the Council reviews its performance from time to time. It also
appoinb persons to various leadership positions in the University.

The council's conduct of business is guided by university Act No . 42 of 2012, Mwongozo code ofconduct
2015, commission for university Educarion Regularions and Standards 2014 and MUST charter.

The University Council is composed ofa Chairposon and eight other members. All the members other than
the vic€ Chancellor are drawn from outside the University. The trgal Officer serves as the Secretary to the
Council.

The following are the Council members who served during the period:

Current Council Members

Dr. Jane KiringaF{hsirpenotr of the Council

Dr. Kiringai holds a PhD in Economics liom University ofNoningham,
UK, a Masters in Development Economics from Williams College, US, a
Bachelor of Philosophy in Economics and a Bachelor of Science in
Mathematics and Computer Science both from the University ofNairobi

Dr. Kiringai is a seasoned economist with experience spanning over
twenty years. She ianed her career as an economist in the Ministry of
Finance determining the aggregate budget frarnework and ministerial and
sectoral budget cei lings.

Before joining Commission for Revenue Allocation, she worked as a
Senior Economist with the World Bank covering a broad range of

economic development issues, including macroeconomic analysis and forecasting, public expenditure
management and fiscal decentralizalion. She has also worked with other development institutions including
Department for lntemational Development (DFID), the European Commission Delegation, and as a Policy
Analyst with Kenya's Policy think tank, Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (KIppRA).

Dr. Kiringai was appointed as the Chairperson ofthe University Council for a period ofthree years with effect
from 106 March 2023.

!
.\
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Jannet Ominde Atiktr-{ouncil Member

Jannet holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) degree in
strategy from the University of Nairobi, an under graduate degree in
Economics and Sociology from Egerton University, various executive
and management trainings from Strathmore Business school- Keny4
IESE Business school- Spain, Cranfield School of Management -UK
and Lagos Business school -Nigeria. Jannet is an Executive Coach and
Holds a diploma in Executive Coaching fiom the Academy of
Executive Coaching (AoC).
Jannet has cumulative 28 years work experience attained in
commercial fields specifically cutting across Sales, Marketing, Public
Relations and Customer Experience. She spent a total 2l years at
Safaricom PLC where she nurtured an illustrious career rising to
Director-{ustomer Experience, a role she held for 6 years leading a
team of over 2,500 staff and a budget of KShs. 5.6 billion annually.
She is the founder ofCXP consulting group, a team ofexperts helping
organizations position customer experience at the core of their daily

business with the aim of making Experience their competitive advantage.
Jannet is the vice chairperson of Women Corporate Directors (WCD) Kenya Chapter. She is the Chairperson
of the membership sub-committee at WCD- Kenya and a board member WCD, Kenya Chapter Board. She
also has been a member ofthe board at the Institute ofCustomer Experience- Kenya (lCX Kenya) where she
served two terms.

Jannet was appointed as an independent member ofUniversity Council for a period ofthree years with effect
from 106 March 2023. She is currently the Chairperson ofthe Audit committee.

Lucy Rimanto Molonket - Council Member

Lucy holds a Master's degree in Business Administration from
Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology
(JKUAT), a Bachelor ofCommerce Degree in Marketing from the
University of Nairobi (UON) and a professional Diploma in Sales
and Marketing from the University of Nairobi. Lucy is a Craduate
of the Advanced Management Programme (Strathmore-IESE
Business School, Barcelona Spain) and Senior Management
Leadership Programme from Antai College of Economics and
Management-Shanghai, China. She also holds certificates in
Executive Leadership Development from Lagos Business School
(Pan African University) and Gordon School of Business, in
Pretoria Soulh Afiica.
She is a career Marketer with over l5 years' vast experience within
the NGO Sector, Banking Sector and the Public Sector. Cunently
she is a Consultant and runs her private businesses in the
Construction Industry. Food Production and Livestock Farming.
Lucy was appointed as an independent member of University

Council for a period of three years with effect from lOh March

2023. She is currently the Chairperson ofthe Human Resources Committee

tx
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Silveter Kibiwott Kinyor- Couocil Member

Silvester Kibiwon Kinyor holds a Bachelor,s degree with Second Class
Honors, Upper Division, in Technologr - Electrical and
Communications Engineering. Additionally, hi possesses a Master of
Business Administration (MBA) IESE Business School. He has several
cerlifications, including the Project Management professional (pMp)rD
certification, and the PRINCE2 project Management Methodolory. His
is a.member of several professional bodies such as the Enerry
lgsulatory Commission (EPRA), Insritution of Engineers of Kenya
(lEK), Engineers Board ofKenya (EBK), and the National Construction
Authority (NCA).
Silvester is an accomplished Electrical Engineer with an extensive
background in the Electrical and Telecommunications indrstr-y,
spanning over 15 years. His exp€rtise and experience have been
instrumental in driving advancements urd implimenting successful

Silvester.has held various significant positions in renowned telecommunications organizations. These include
roles such as ChiefTechnical Officer, Project Director, Supervision Engineer, and'implernentation Engineer.
He has also worked with prominent companies such as Safaricom Keny4 Huawei keny4 Telkom i.eny4
Airtel, Alcatel Lucent, Tanzania Telecommunication, and Rwandatel.

Silvesler was appointed as an independent member of University Council for a period of three years with
effect from 106 March 2023. He is currently the Chairperson ofthe Finance Committee ofthe Council.

projects across the African region. His specialization in solar eners/
solutions has established him as a Solar Expert, allowing him to

contribute to the development and implementation of sustainable and eco-fiiendly eners/ solutions. He has
overseen the installation and implementation of Telecommunication Towers, ersuring seamless connectivity
and coverage for telecommunication networks. Additionally, he has played a crucial role in providing green
energ/ solutions to these towers, contributin g to suslainable pract ices in the indusry. His expertise extends
beyond telecommunication projects, as he has also spearheaded the deployment of Smart Water meters.
enabling eflicient and accurate monitoring of water consumption Furthermore, he has been involved in the
strategic rollout of fiber optics infrastructure to various sites, buildings, and homes, facilitating reliable and
high-speed intemet connectivity for clients

Mrrtir Kinoti - Council MGmb€r
Martin is an Animal Nutrition specialist and practitioner and holds

a BSc. (Animal Production) from Egerton University and an MSc.
(Applied Nutrition) from University of Nairobi. He has also
undertaken several practical training sessions in livestock nutrition
and management in England, USA, Belgium, and Israel and has
been active in the rcgional livestock and animal feed s€ctors for
the last 24 years.

Martin has extensive public, NGO and private s€ctor experience,
having worked in govemment livestock extension services and
donor funded ag cultural projects before moving into the private
sector 22 years ago. After I I years wirh Unga Group where he rose
to become Head of Technical Services. he founded Nurimix
Limited, a company specializing in the manufacture and
disribution of feed supplements and additives, as well as offering
consultancy services in the area of livestock feeding and
management. Martin has, and continues to practice as a consultant

in feed formulation and TMR for many feed millers and dairy farms rcspectively. He has also been active in
applying proven scientific concepts in development ofspecialty products for the local livestock sector. Martin

\ I
t.
\
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has undergone training in Finance for Non-Finance Managers, Pension Fund Trusteeship, Change
Management, Corporate Govemance and is also a member of the Technical Committee on Animal Feeds at
Kenya Bureau of Standards and the Secretary General of the Association of Kenya Feed Manufacturers,
AKEFEMA.

His three-year term as as an independent member Council started on loth March 2023. He is currently the
Chairperson of the Academic Committee of the Council.

Dr. Jscob Cekonge Kwabs- Council Memb€r

Dr. Jacob G. Kwaba holds a PhD in Administration, Management and
Policies from Masinde Muliro University of Science and Technology,
Master in Education and Administration and Bachelor in Education
(History and CRE Option), Pl Certificate from St. Paul Teachers'
Training College, and a Diploma in CRE from Nyeri Pastoral Centre.

Dr. Kwaba has over 33 years' experience in an array of
specializations. He has wide experience in administralion, financial
management and auditing. He has been a Gusii Mwalimu SACCO
(Treasurer) delegate for the last 24 years. He was also a school
principal for more than twenty-five (25) years. As an Academic he has

supervised a number of posl graduate students, and has published
widely in intemational joumals in the field of administration and
management of public sectors. He has also been a part-time lecturer
at Mt. Kenya University since 2012.

Dr. Kwaba runs various mentorship programmes that target the upcoming administrators and managers. He
has worked as a senior consultant in the board of Gusii Mwalimu SACCO-

His three-year term as as an independent member Council started on loih March 2023

Rose Kwena- Council Member (R€pr€sentotive ofThe Principal Secretary, National Treasury)

Rose holds a Master of Science from Lindenwood University, USA
(Corporate Communications with Emphasis in Marketing) in addition to
Bachelor of Arts Political Science & Arabic) from University of
Nairobi. She is an Associate ofToronto Leadership Centre, an honoured
2010 wanior ofthe Marketing Society ofKeny4 an Alumni ofUCLA,
World Bank - Annenberg Summer Institute, and a member of
lntemational Association of Business Communicators (IABC).
Rose has l5 years ofexperience in financial Inclusion in informal sector
space. She is currently the CEO of Kenya National Entrepreneurs
Savings Trusl (KNEST), spearheading the Govemment initiative to
mainstream the over l7 million marginalized Informal Sector workers
in lhe pensions arrangement.
Rose has led various innovative reforms in the pensions industry and
financial inclusion, including spearheading the development of the
'Trustee Development Program - Kenya (TDPK) in 2021 - a certificate
prograrn that has enhanced govemance in the management of pension

schemes by Trustees in Kenya and the region. She also spearheads the Financial Services Regulators
partnership with KICD to develop the'financial literacy curriculum for schools'thal has been imbedded in
the Competency Based Curriculum.
Rose was the Country Coordinator at the OEcD/lnternational Network on Financial Education (INFE) from
2009 to 2019 and sal on the (INFE) Technical committee and was a member of the Working Groups on

XI
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Prof. Romanus Odhiambo-Vice Chancellor

Prof. Odhiambo holds a PhD in Statistics from Kenyatta
University and MSc in Statistics from Kenyatta University.
He also holds an Executive Master of Science in
Organizational Development form USIU and a Bachelor of
Education (Double Mathematics) from Kenyana University.
Prof. Odhiambo is a professor ofStatistics wilh over 26 years'
experience in academics and research. He has served in a

number ofadministrative, Ieadership positions at JKUAT over
the years as: chairman of an academic department for two
successive terms, dean of a faculty for two successive terms,
and Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic Affairs) for l0 years.

He has distinguished himself in organizational development
and management aspects such as resource mobilization,
projects management and leading change. He has also

supervised a number of students at Masters and Doctoral level. He is a member of Intemational Biometric
Society (lBS), lnstitute of Mathematical Statistics (lMS) and Kenya Inter-Universiry Association of
Mathematicians and Computer Science.

He has served as Vice-Chancellor since 6d August 2018.

ln 2002 Rose served on the Kenya Cultural Centre Goveming Council as member and later as the Chair from
2008-2009.

She is.the altemate lo Principgl Secretary, The National Treasury in the Council. Her three-year term as a
Council member slarted on 106 March 2023.

Fredrick Ndambuki Council Member(Representative ofthe Principal Secretary, State Department of
University Education and Rescarch)

Fredrick Ndambuki is the altemate to principal Secretary, State
Department of University Education and Research in the Council.

His three-year term as the altemale to principal Secretary. State
Department of University Education and Research in the Council
started on los March 2023.

xI
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Ml Sharon Koskei - Council S€cr€tery
Mbs Koskei holds a Bachelor of laws degree (LL. B) from the University

of Nairobi and Diploma in Law from the Kenya School of t^aw. She

holds a Master of [:ws (LL.M - Intemational Brsiness [aw) from
the University of Cumbria, United Kingdom. She has institutional
aftiliation to the Law Society of Kenya (LSK).

Miss Koskei is an experienced Advocate ofthe High Court of Kenya
with a demonstrated history of working in the legal industry with
more than 5 years ofexceptional and diversified experience in public
law, commercial law and corporate govemance. She started her

career in private practice before transitioning to public service and

has a proven track record of providing the highest possible level of
legal service to senior manaSement. She is a strong legal professional

skilled in negotiation, legal w ting, c.rporate law and boad ofdirectors' management.

She was appointed to the position of the University Legal Officer and the Secraary to the University Council
on April 15, 2021.

Former Council Members
Prof. Bosire Monari Mwebi served as the chairman of Council of Meru University of Science and

Technologr from 2'd December 2020 to 9n March 2023.

Muriira M'mbwiria served as member of the Council from l0 March 2020 to 96 March 2023.

Stephen Kimani Gatama served as mernber ofthe Council from l0 March 2020 to 96 March 2023.

Dick Waswa Wekesa served as member of the Council from l0 March 2020 to 96 March 2023.

Pauline Jeruto Kurgat served as mernber of the Council from l0 March 2020 to 96 March 2023.

Dr. Naomi Kipuri served as member ofthe Council ftom l0 March 2020 to 9n March 2023.

Paul P Mungai served as the representative of the Principa! Secretary, State Departrnent of University
Education and Research in Meru University ofScience and Technologr Council from 4t June 2020 to th
March 2023.

CPA FA Dr. Solomon T. Ngahq MCISI was the PS- the National Treasury representalive in the Council
from 22 Apil2o20 to 96 March 2022.

CPA Damaris Nyasuguta Onsomu-was the PS, the National Treasury representative in the Council from 106
March 2022 to 96 M 8r:ch 2023.

x
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Acedcmlc Comml6cc
i. MartinKinoti-{hairman
ii. Fredrick Ndambuki
iii. Dr. Jacob Kwaba
iv. Jannet Atika
v. Prof. Romanus Odhiambo

IIR Committcc
i. LucyMolonket-{hairp€rson
ii. Fredrick Ndambuki
iii. Sylvester Kinyor
iv. Prof. Romanus Odhiambo

Audlt Commlttee
i. RoseKwena-{hairperson
ii. Jannet Atika
iii. Lucy Molonket
iv. Dr. Jacob Kwaba

Finrtrc. CoBmlttc.
i. SylvesterKinyor-{hairman
ii. Martin Kinoti
iii. Rose Kwena
iv. Prof. Romanus Odhiambo

Councll Commlttccr
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4. KEY MANAGEMENT TEAM
Management team that served during finmcial year 2022/2023

The Yice Chancellor

Prof. Romanus Odhiambo
B.Ed. Sci. (KU), M.Sc.(KU), EMOD (USIU), Ph.D.
(KU)

Th€ Deputy Yice Chancellor (Administration,
Finance And Planning)

Prof. Charity W. Gichuki, BVM. (UoN), Ph.D

(Clasgow)

DVC (Acodemic, Research And Students Affairs)

Prof. Simon Thurenira
B.Ed. Arrs (KU), M.Ed. (KU), Ph.D. (University of
Maryland-USA)
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A.g. Registrsr (Acsdemig R€search And Students
AIToin)

Dr. Stephen Karanja
B. Ed. Sci. (KU), MSc. (KU), Ph.D (JKUAT)

Finance Oflicer
CPA Nephat Njeru
B. Com (KU), MBA(JKUAT), CPA(K)

Registrar (Administr€tion And Planning)

CHRP, Dr. Elijah Walubuka FIH RIVI, FKIM
BA (Daystar). MBA (Egerton), Ph.D. (Kabarak)

Council Secreta ryll-egal Ollicer
Miss Sharon Koskei
LL.B (UoN), Diploma in Law (KSL), LL.M (Univenity of
Cumbria Uniled Kingdom)
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5. CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

It is with great pleasure that I present

to you Meru University of Science

and Technology annual report for the

financial year 202212023. This report
gives a brief overview of activites at

MUST in the course ofthe fiscal year

as we carried out our missions of
leaching. research and service

delivery.

Since we originally welcomed our

first cohort of slightly more than 45

undergraduate sludents in the year

2009, we have expanded 1o aboul
9,000 students and over 14,000

alumni. Our graduates are now highly
sought after by employers and our
alumni have established themselves

as valued members of society. Our
faculties have established themselves

as highly competent academics and

researchers. and our staff have been

recognized and honored for their hard work and accomplishments

The theme of FY 2022 2023 may well be opportunitl, urises .from adyersit).. The opportunity to be
uncharacteristically adaptable and responsive has taught our university a number of lessons that are enabling
us to construct a prosperous future, without in any way diminishing lhe destruclion and instability of the
previous three years. The usage of technology has advanced quickly. resulting in creative ways of gathering.
communicating, teaching, and learning. This is one of the most visible silver linings. lt is unlikely that the
University will ever retum lo contact-only teaching and leaming, but we do have a very fascinating hybrid
option to talie into the post-pandemic tuture given the enhanced leaming experience and flexibility afforded
by the online format.

Strategic positioning
The vision of the Council is a truly prosperous Meru University of Science and Technology that relies on
innovation, technolory transfer and commercialization of research outcomes by staff and students of the
University. Accordingly, the Council is committed to building an ecosystem that promotes innovation.
intellectual propeny management, technology transfer and entrepreneurship. The Council has set about
changing the mind-set of academics by getting them to see themselves as academic entrepreneurs. Atler all,
innovation is the result of research. one of the primary responsibilities of all academics. If researchers sel
about using research to solve problems ofour immediate society and by extension global problems. they can
with the help of the University benefit from these solutions when they are licensed to industry and
comrnercialized.

We are dedicated to navigating this great Universily to global slatus. Our aim is to sleer MUST into a leading
top notch premier research university in science and technology. As a Council, we are commi[ed to building
a network ofcollaboration across the globe that posilions MUST as the university ofchoice in research and
innovation. lntenlational collaboration enables universities to make significant research and innoyation leaps
by sharing and building on each other's areas ofexpenise. It also elevates all ofour teaching and leaming, and
research facilities to a new level. ln FY 2022123, our university continued to develop partnerships with
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Prominent institutions and networks across the world. During the financial year, MUST operationalized the
intemationa.l liaison office to facilitate the development of more intemational institution-wide partnerships
across the six continents.

Changes in the Council and Mrnrgement
On 90 March 2023, the tenure of thi entire former Council under the chairmanship of Prof Bosire Mwebi
came to an end and a new Council was appointed to serve for a ttree-year period srarting fiom 106 March
2023. I wish to sincerely thank Prof Bosire and his team for the years of service and dedication to our board.
I acknowledge that their contribulions ofideas, enerry, and enthusiasm have been invaluable. For the last four
years, we did not have a substantive Deputy Vice chancellor (ASA). In June 2023, lhe Council appoinred
Prof. Simon Thuranira as the Deputy Vice Chancellor (ASA)for a five year term.

Sustainability
The policies, govemance and intemal controls promote the attainment ofthe strategic goals and objectives of
the university and promote its future operational and financial sustainability. Based on forecasts and available
cash resources, there is no reason to believe that the MUST will not be sustainable. Furthermorc, to manage
key risks, MUST has and maintains an efficient and effective process of risk management. Accordingly,
Council is not aware ofany key current risk, imminent or forecssted that may tlreaten the sustainability ofthe
University.

Apprecirtion
I extend my sincere Sratitude to all our stakeholders including but not limited to our Chancellor, Dr. James
Mwangi, all MUST staff, students, alumni, partners, and funders for your unwavering commitment to serve
humanity through your mission at MUST. Without you MUST would not be whar it is. Thank you all.

Dr. Jane Kiringai, PhD
Chrirperson of the Council
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6. REPORT OF THE VICE CHANCELLOR
It is my geat pleasure to present MUST
Annual Reports and Financial Statements

for the financial year 202V2023. The yan
has been a challenging year, particularly

financially, as the world emerges from the

shadow of the COVID- l9 pandemic. At the

start of the fiscal year, it was anticipated

that the COVID-I9 pandemic's pent-up

demand would be rcleased to spur growth.

However, the start of the Russia-Ukmine
war brought new unc€rtainties, exacerbated

the pandemic-related supply bottlenecks

already in place, and complicated the

recovery efforts. High inflation and stricter
local financing requirements caused actual

household incomes to fall, which had a
negative impact on university finances. Overall, the University maintained its good track record of financial
stabilily in FY 202Y23 despite the challenging economic environment. Although many factors influence
operational and financial sustainability, one key ratio is monitored carefully at MUST, namely the current
ratio. Although as at 30 June 2023, the ratio was not sufficiently healthy, at 0.4, it was only temporary and

we can comfortably conclude that MUST is in an operationally sustainable position.

Our performance
In the year under review, the University continued to influence tertiary education in Kenya by expanding its
undergraduate and graduate enrolment. For example, enrolment increased fiom 6,858 in 2019/20 to 8,661

students in 2022/23. This increase is a testimony to the University's mission of extending access and
participation. ln March 2023 the University graduated 1,004 students.

During the year 2022123, MUST generated a total ofKShs. 1,224,607,743 compared to KShs. 1,254,466,392
generated in the previous year. The Expenditure for the year was KShs. 1,3 I 1,040,826 as compared to KShs.
I,2108,523,355 for the previous year. The deficit declined from KShs. 154,056,964 in FY 2021/22 to KShs.
86,433,082 in the year under review. The universily completed three semesters in lheFY 2021/22 as compared
to two semesters in theFY 2022123 hence the decrease in both revenue and expenditure in FY2022/23.

Capitsl Development
During the year, the University continued with the construction ofthe Nursing and Public Health building as

well as development ofthe sports fields. ln addition, the University is on course with the construction of tkee
projects namely: library, laboratory and administration blocks at Mariene Research lnstitute. MUST spent

KShs. 194,480,823 on capital expenditure during the year under review.

Chellenges
ln 202212023, the Kenyan higher education sector continued to deal with the challenges of declining state

funding, and rising students' debt. These challenges had significant implications for MUST's functioning and
its long-term sustainability. Taking a proactive approach to managing the risks, the University delayed non-
essential capital projects, employed strict processes for the appointment of staff arnong other austerity
measures.
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Way Forwerd
Our main responsibility is to provide education. lt's critical that our students are tawht by knowledgeable
academic staffand inspiring researchers. Additionally, transferable skills are crucial for our students' success
when they graduate fiom the university. we also underscore that cresting a good and life-enhancing
environment for our students is essential to the stLldent experience. With that, MUST will be attractive to
stud€nts. With thc implanentalion ofthe new university fimding model, it is critical to attrscl as many sfildents
as possible. Under the fimding model, the govemment will give students scholarships as opposed to a

capitation to the miversity.

We are pleased with our rhicvements this far and are determined to prove ours€lves equal to challenges
ahead. Even though we are proud ofour accomplishments, we need to work even harder and rernain committed
to realizing MUST's vision and mission. Thank you.

Romrnus GtLmbo, Ph. D.

Vlce Chancellor
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7. STATEMENT OF MERU UNIVERSITY PERFOMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVES FOR FY 202212023

Section 8l Subsection 2 (0 of the Public Finance Management Acr, 2012 requires the accounting officer to
include in the financial statemenl, a statement ofthe entily's performance against predetermined objectives.

The University has seven strategic pillals ard objectives within its Strategic Plan for the years 2020-2024
These Strategic Pillars are as follows:

l. Academic Excellence

2. Science and Technology

3. Institutional Development

4. Research. Innovation and Extension

5. Sewice Delivery
6. Collaborations, Partnershipsand Linkages.

7. FinancialManagement

MUST develops its annual work plans based on the above seven pillars. Assessment of the Council's
performance against its annual work plan is done on a quarterly basis. The University achieved its performance

targets set for the FY 2022123 period for its seven strategic pillars as indicated in the table below:

I Academ
ic
excellen
ce

To
promote
access to
quality
teaching
and
leaming.

o Departmental
reports on needs
assessment

. New programs
developed

. Evaluation r€ports
on the existing
curricula

. Updated programs

. No of e-kaming
modules developed

. Reporl of pedagogy
training

. Copies of approved
new curricula

o marketing drives
conducted

o Web and social
media postings

. Copy of
advertisgments

. Number of the
print, e-books arrd

added sitting space

. Market needs
assessment and
development of
new academic
programs

o Evaluation of
existing curricula
and market needs

. Incorporation of
ICT in teaching
and learning

o Increase use of
eleaming modules

. Conduct annual
pedagog

. train academic
staff

o Develop new
curricula

. Conduct marketing
drives

o Use of social
media and
University website
to increase

Programme
visibility

.lnterventions in teaching
and leaming have
established the University
as a market leader in
educating a unique brand of
graduates who are self-
rcli8nt, dependable,
competent and innovative
thinkers who will lead
progressive development.

o MUST's population has
grown to approximately
9,000 students in niche
programmes that addrcss
curent and emerging issues
in differcnt sectors of the
global economy.

4l curricula developed
since 2019
o PhD-4
. Masters - 9. Undergraduat€ - l0. Cerrificate (MUST) -
I

. TVET programmes -
t7
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2 Science
and
technolo

cv

Instituti
onal

To
enhance
the
developm
ent and
transfer of
science
and
technolog

v

To
enhance

. Functional nelwork
in place

o Acquisition of
computers.

. SiSned SLA's

. Payment for
License agreements

. IT policy developed
and approved .

. Implemented
Network Access
policy

' Upgaded
bandwidth.

. Approved extra
bandwidth request

o Signed SLA's with
service provider.

. Organogxam
developed awaiting
approval.

o Approved robust
ICT
policy/Procedures

. Incr€as€
resources
capacity

library
and

oDevelop Network
infrastructure.

.Upgrade the ERP
System.

.Signing of Service
level agreements

.Develop IT security
policy

.lmplement a

cenlralized and
unified network
access policy
management.

.Up8rade Intemet
Bandwidth.

eDevelop and
implement ICT
organogram.

.Realign lhe ICT
procedures with the
related department
operalions

oPurchase of quality
equipment for

. Market needs
assessm€nt conducted.

. Curricula rcviewed in
line wirh rhe CUE
guidelines.

o All cunicula were
reviewed as per CUE
requirements - passed in
l5th Regular Senate of
l3th August 2020. The
effective date is
September 2020.

. Student admission and
regislration automated.

. Student management
portal upgraded.

a) Improved network
infrastructure to ease
service delivery.

b) Quality services to the
University in line with
Policy requirements.

c) Increased number of
sludent computers.

d) Improved competence in
use of ICT.

e) Enhanced technical skills.
f) Improved service

delivery to the
University.

g) Compliance in use of
software tools.

h) Acquisition of computers
done on need basis.

i) Network infrastructure
Continuous process. EC-
B, EC-C, Sanitation
research laboratory and
LAN and Wireless
extension for existing
offices scheduled for FY
2021/2022

j) Staff trained on
lnformation security
managemenl syslem
(rsMS).

k) BYOD policy approved.
l) Implementation of virtual

labs to be done in FY
2022t2023

m) Proposed intemel
upgrade to be done

o Conducive environment for
teaching, leaming, rcsearch,

3 . Equipment bought
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develop
ment

Researc
h.
innovati
on and
extensio
n

sustainabl
e

institution
al
developm
ent

To
develop
and apply
research,
innovatio
n and
extension

o Designs of the
Nursing and health
science building
developed

. Phase I of the
Engineering
complex complete
and Phase III on
going.

. Innovation centre
fumished

. Water tank
constructed and
water rcticulated

. Walk ways
constructed

. Construction of
sports and
recreation facilities
on going.

o Boundary wall
plans developed

o Development of
Mariene Research
centre on course.

. CCTV and
Biometrics
installed.

. Training Report

. grant agreement

. Copies of intemal
call for proposals

. Appointment letters
for peer reviewers

. Conference
proceedings

. Extension services
report

. Number of mobile
apps developed

Science and
Technology

oDesign and develop
the Nursing and
Health scienc.e

building
.Construct Phase II
and III of the
Engineering
Complex building

oFumishing and
equipping of the
IIEC

.Construct water
tark and
reticulation system .

oCorstmction of
ramps, liffs and o

walkways
.Construct and equip .
a sports and
recreation facilities o

.Construction of
boundarywall .

oDevelop Mariene o

Research
University College

.Develop security .
infrastructure,
facilities and o
partnerships

a

oTraining of staff in
grant writing

.Support of multi-
disciplinary
research

oFunding of more
intemal calls

oEstablish inlemal
peer review
mechanism

.Participation in
conf'erences

.Conduct extension
services to the
community

.Use of social media
for technology
transfer

innovation and
delivery.

servlce

1

o MUST has improved and
developed the institution's
physical facilities,
infiastructure and capital
equipment, to deliver its
core mandate, develop the
institutiorL generate income
and transfer knowledge and
technologl.
Annual HRP carried out
Requircd competences
recruited
Seeking approval to recruit
some more
Staff training policy under
review
Staff training committee in
place.

Training needs assessment
established.
Job descriptions reviewed
Work from home policy
developed awaiting
council approval.
Employee assistance
program in place.

Staff medical scheme in
place.

Health education offered
annually.

a) Increase in donor
funded research projects.

b) Extension services
are being conducted as a

result of our various
projects with the
community. examples
include:

o ePMT Horticulture
o ePIVOT water
. Fortified Biochar on

Production and Nutritional
Quality ofCabbage

o KENIA is

commercializing some of
its national innovations
through MUST and hence
extension to the
community

c) The RDE is actively
using the social media lor
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5 Service
delivery

To
enhance
excellenc
ein
servicc
delivcry

o A 30o/o increase in
sporting facilities

. Incresse in shdent
p8rticipants in
sports & r€creation

. More clubs and
societies registered

o Professional
counsellor
sppointed

o Decrease in time
usd to serve
strdents ard staff

. Construct and
mainain sporting
facilities (outdoor
and indoor)

o Intrroduce morc
sports disciplines
e8.

. Floor ball
r Korfball
. regismtion of

student clubs and
societies

. Recruitment of a
student counsellor

. Automate servic€s

technolory transfer
through the University's
twitter, Facebook and
Instagram handles for
awareness and
communication and
sensitization and example
is our recenl innovation
week.

d) The RDE has already
developed a strategic plan
for its innovation centre
that is being launched
during the cunent
innovation week and is in
the process of escalaling il
to a full-blovm proposal for
a science park and
strategies for fundraising
are ongoing

e) Miraa Research
lnstitute is already
established.

f) Sanitation centre is
already established.

g) WHO research
laboratories equipped

h) Cement research unil
started

. An engaSlng, secure and
productive campu life for
its students and all the
stake holders.

.lmproved sporting
sctivities that engage
studeflts throughor.rt the
year.

. Automated fec payment

. Automated payroll
o Qualit! management

policy developed.
o Quality assurance

reporting is a standing
agenda in the Deans
committee.

. Standards and benchmarks
estsblished

o Quality assurance
committee in place
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6 Collabor
ations,
Partners
hips and
Linkage
s.

Financia
I

Manage
ment

To
strengthen
collaborat
ions.
partnershi
ps and
linkages

To
enhance
prudent
financial
managem
ent.

o Collaborations and
Linkages office in
place

. Appointmenl letter
for the linkages and
collaborations
coordinator

o SOPs
. Number of signed

MoUs

. -Establish linkages
and collaborations
office

. Develop standard
operating
procedures (SOPs)
for linkages and
collaborations

. Establishment and
operat ionalization
of MoUs

a) lntemationalization
Directorate set up

b) Regional Sanitation
Centre set up. Training
80 Masters sludents in
the region

c) Linkage with University
of Lausanne. One staff on
annual research
fellowship

d) WHO laboratory funded
and equipped

e) Research linkages with
Japan - Biochar project

f) Activation of staff and
student exchange on
course.

g) MoUs and joint research
activities initiated.

r MUST has achieved a
stable financial base.

. Altemative sowces of
fimding sought

o IGU dir€ctorate
established

o Orchard established
. ICDL and Driving school

proposals approved
. Student fee policy enfortEd
Financial manag€ment

automated
r Cost management through
e.g. automEtiorL
outsoucing of some
services,

. Student fe€ policy enforc€d

7 o Funclional
direciorate of
income generation

o Number of
altemative sources
identified

. Percentage of
income collected vs
expected

. Automated
financial systems

. Approved budgets

o Increase and
sseamline the
institution's
fundraising
activities;

. SeekinS oltcrnative
sourtes of firnds

o Enforcc the student
fe€ colleclion
policy

o Enhance
mechanisms for
collection of other
incomes

o Sheamline the
financial
management
systems

o Rationalize
budgets at all
levels;
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8. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The University Management Board (UMB) and Council members are held to the highest elhical standards in

how they carry out their duties and interact with stakeholders on behalf of the University. Each member

fulfills their duties as a reprcsentation of the University as a whole rather than a particula, goup. The

Univenity maintains a register of interests of members of the Council and UMB members. Council members

are expected to attend scheduled meetings as regularly as possible.. The function of Council members is

comparable to that of a company's non-executive directors. They have collective responsibility for Council

decisions. They recognize the substantial differences between their position in strategic govemance and that

ofthe university's op€rational management (a role being played by the University Management Board chaired

by the Vice-Chancellor). The Vice Chancellor and the membeB ofthe University Management Board make

presentations before the Council on particular topics.

The Council has four (4) committees and the Council committees have four scheduled meetings per annum.
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Full Council

The full Council met l2 times during the year. The Council had 4 regular meetings and 8 special meetings.

The attendance per member is shown in the table above:

Committees of the Council

The following are the committees ofthe Council:

t
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Finance Committee
Audit Committee
Human Resources Committee
Academic Committee

Finance Committee

The Finance Committee is responsible for monitoring and advising Council on the financial health of the
university, including the financial strategy, budget sening, annual accounts, investment activity and

consideration of capital expenditure. The Committee also has responsibility for monitoring institutional level
Key Performance Indicators in order to measure and monitor University performance against agreed strategies
and targets. The Committee also monitors and advises on the conduct ofthe University's estatevinfrastructure
activity including revenue and capital expenditure. The Committee may draw on professional expertise beyond
that available within the Council membership.

The composition ofthe Finance Committee ofthe Council was as follows:

t.

.

iii.

L

ii.
iii
iv

Sylvester Kinyor-{hairman
Martin Kinoti
Rose Kwena
Prof. Romanus Odhiambo

Ftnmcs
Cmmittoo

Audit
Cmmitt€c

5t8 7t8 6t8 2t8 lrt l/f, l/8

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has responsibility for moniloring the effectiveness ofthe University's risk managemenl,
control and govemance arrangements, along with the arrangements to promote economy, efficiency and

effectiveness throughout the institution and advises the Council accordingly. The Committee exercises
oversight over intemal audit arrangements. It considers intemal audit reports and recommendations for the
improvement of the UniveBity's systems of intemal conlrol, together with management's responses and

implementation plans. The Commitlee also exercises oversight over extemal audit arrangements, such as the
nature, scope and effectiveness of the process and considers the audit aspects of the institution's financial
statements. The composition of the Audit Committee of the Council was as follows:
i. Rose Kwena-{hairperson
ii. Jannet Atika
iii. Lucy Molonket
iv. Dr. Jacob Kwaba

315 315 3ts 2t5 lts3t5
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Humen Rcsources Committec
The Committee monitors and rcviews the development and implementation ofgood governance practic€. The

Committee is responsible for the oversight of human resource strates/, policies and associated procedures

including the use of performance and development systems, indicators and benchmarks.

The composition ofthe Human Resources Committee oflhe Council was as follows:

l.
ii.
iii
iv

Lucy Molonket-{hairperson
Fredrick Ndambuki

Sylvester Kinyor
Prof. Romanus Odhiambo

To advise Cormcil on students'acc€ss and admissions, curriculum design, course and fees structure,

academic and mentoring support, provision and use of leaming resources and students' welfare.

To establish and review struchres and mechanisms for assuring the implementation of academic

policies, the maintenance of standards and enhancement of good pracrice;

To oversee and co-ordinate activities associated with national and extemal agencies involved in quality

assurance;

To consider the overall balance of acadernic activities and provision of resources;

To dwelop, amend, repeal and approve regulalions conceming academic programmes:

To receive and consider proposals and nominations for the award of honorary degrees and recommend

to Council award of honorary degrees;

To consider and advice Council on all matters related to rcsearch and innovation in the University.

To authorize on behalfofCouncil the application of the Univssity Seal on documents.

The composition of the Academic Committee of the Council was as follows

The Acsdemic Committee of the Councll
The Academic Committee of the Council assists the Council in fulfilling its oversight of the University

academic pmgrams, strategic academic plans, student leaming, graduation matters and related activities such

as:

ll

lll

vi.

vll.
viii.

l.

ii.
iii.
iv.

Martin Kinoti-{hairman
Fredrick Ndambuki

Dr. Jacob Kwaba
Janne{ Atika
Prof. Romanw Odhiambo

Attendanc€

Acrdalc 3/S 4t5 4t5 v5 v3

Ad hoc Commlttoe
The Council may appoint an ad hoc comminee to handle special mafters.

v5
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Conflict of lnter€st
The University has adopted a con{lict of interest policy which appli€s to the Cormcil, Management and Staff.
All persons govemed by the policy are under the obligation to avoid and disclose ethical, legal, financial or
other conflicts ofinteres involving the University and rcmove thernselves from a position ofdecision-making
authority with respcct to any conflict situation involving the University. Any pcrson who has a material
p€rsonal interest in a particulsr matto and who is able to influence the decision will not vote on the matter
when it is being discussed or considered.
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9. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SECTION A

hrformrncc

Generrl Statistics
The University has the following schools, Institutes and Campuses

Schools
. School
. School
. School
. School
. School
. School
. School
. School

ofAgriculture & Food Science

of Business & Economics

of Computing & Informatics

of Education

of Engineering & Architecture

of Health Sciences

of Pure & Applied Sciences

of Nursing

lnstitutes & Campuses
. Sanitation Research lnstitute
. Mariene Research Inslilute
. Town Campus: Centre for continued and professional studies
. Marimba Leaming Centre

Students Enrolment
The population ofthe students has been growing steadily year after year. In a span offive yean, the populalion

has doubled. ln 2018, the number of students was 5,1l5 and by 30d June 2023, the number had grown to

8.661.

ilriEfrFtlilluzr
TOTAL 1U5 $40 6E5E

,'lqmmFs
g,ffi &66r

Graduation
Gmduation slslMics
The l0'h graduation ceremony was held at the university on March I l, 2023. A total of I ,004 students received
their certificates, diplomas or degrees. The graduation ceremony was noteworthy since it fell on the same
day as Meru University of Science and Technotogy's l0'h anniversary of receiving its charter on March lst,
20l3.The table below demonstrates how the numb€r ofgraduates has increased every year:

ttklS Aur-r1 D.els Dcel6 DGelT Ms-19 No*19 Fcb
2t

itq-22 ito

Totrl No.
of

grrdu.t6
1399 749 949 1253 ll2t t239 t27t 1240 t777 1004

23
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Employee Statistics
Dlsttibution
In the last five years, the number of staff in the payroll has increased marginally from 397 lo 442 despite the

significant increase in the number ofstudents most ofthe departments are under staffed. The University hires

part-time personnel to make up the departments' stalling shortages.

University Stsff Data

C.te{ory 20ta$ 2019D0 2020m 2021D2 2l,22n3
Academic 146 138 180 168 t79
Administsation 248 265 224 u9 249
Top Management 3 2 2 2 t

Tot l 397 405 406 4t9 {:tr

Employees' Cost

Employees cost has been increasing year after year as per the table below:

Part-time

Rcveoue fiom non+rctrrnge hnracdons

Donations and Gifts

Rcveuue from erchrnge tnrn$c{lons

Other Income

mlGuu6,'lmEE
125 104 61 t60 r55

rurI$
Totrl Perrond 7E0 763 U4 96
Emolumenb

The trend is likely to continue in the foreseeable future. It is brought about by:

97t

fl

l

:*.m
,,'.ifiru

181,800 3s8200

Totrl rwenue

Op€mlional E eenses

Adminissation Costs

Totrl erpeDlos

qm
28,1E9,677 29,008,351

,inmt
12u,w7,743 l25d,465,rndsm
t203,549,422 1319,2y2.354flm

29,449,467 12,434948rm
l3ll,uo,826 l,{oE523J55

.r$3I-
IlGIlclt
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. Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) which result in increase in basic salaries, allowances or

benefits.

o Annual salary increments.

o New recruitments and promotions.

THE INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

During the financial year 2022/23, the University received more revenue from non-exchange transactions

(Kshs. 73E,965122) than in the previous year (Kshs. 718,494,9q). A non-exchange transaction is one in

which one pafty receives something of value without dircctly giving value in exchange. These transactions

were donations and the govemment capitation. There was an increase in govemmenl capitation of over

twenty million shillings.

On the other hand, there was a decrease in revenue ofover fifty million shillings fiom exchange transaction.

An exchange transaction is one in which each party receives and sacrifices something ofapproximate equal

value. The revenue declined from Kshs. 535,971,452 inFY 2021122 to Kshs. 485,642,521 in FY2022/23.
During the FY2021123, the University completed three semester due to the baclog brought about by Covid
l9 pandemic. h FY2022/23,lhe university completed only two semester which contributed to the decrease.

Further analysis ofsources of Revenue

GOK continues to be MUSTs primary source ofincome. The share ofgovemment revenue over the previous

five years varied from 55o/o lo 72o/o. Number two, with percentages ranging from 22%o to 40Yo, was tuition
fees. The percentages from the other sources of income rangd from 2yo lo 4Vo.

Tnarlbm thon Mlabty ol Eduotlon

E#mIIIM
CBA 76 25

EEIr.r,m
Approprh0on ln Ald

OUrcr Inconrs
Gq'IlilEEnE

39 24 22 29 28

EWETINr,(BE 959 l,olE 1234 1224

HEIIG
P.rcmtryB otYrdolr ro[rrar rtrlnst
iotr! rwrnuc KI
I\drlm 3lYc 26Yo Z2oh Wo 37%

INIIIE
35o/o 28o/o 25o/o 4lo/o *Wo

GmgRwrnuc

TotaI AIA
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Erpenses
lhe total expenses declincd b1 Kshs. l0-.i.769.129. ln t:Y l02l:1. the tolal expenses rr err. Kshs.

1..108.521.155 rvhilc in l)Y 202212.i. the cxpense decretsed to Kshs. l.l t 1.0,10.826. The maior reason lbr lhe

decline was that no deprcciation vvas charged in the FY 2021i l3 bccause all llre assets were rcvalued in June

2023. Dcpreciation cxpense tirr FY l02l ll rvas Kshs. I+.1.000.617.

Distribulion of Erpenses
'[hc rnost signilicant cxpenditurc is personnel cnrolun]ent. Over thc last five lears. lhr pcrcenlage ol
personnel cmoluments against the total expentliture was between 66% and 75%. Similary. the percentage ()1'

"Other Operational [rxpcnses". uhich includc medical costs. itrsurancc. utililies etc range lionr I l9t lo l{oo
of thc tolal cost. Both pcrsonnel cnrolLrncnt and Other Operalional expenses arc llxed costs in thc short run

and cannol be varicd within lhe year. llowcver. in the long run. the costs can bc varicd. lror instance, thc
personnel cost can be reduced through nalural attrilion over a lonr period ol timc.

Erpenses

a) Personnel Emolumenls

b) Ma rtenance Costs

c) Council Expenses

d) Other Operational
Erperces
e) Depreciatbn

Operational Expenses

Academic Costs

Administration Costs

Student Welfare

Totsl erponles

KShs. M

765

2t

155

t02

1,057

63

23

22

I,166

KShs. M

780

t7

t1

132

95

t,035

45

l8

l5

l,t r3

KShs. M

814

22

10

139

t 43

1,157

42

l3

I
tazt

KShs. M

966

29

t9

t6t

114

1,319

39

32

l8

1,409

KShs. M

978

26

l5

l8'l

Percentages of various expenses against total expenditure

d Personnel Emolumenls 66% 70%

b) Maintuance Costs 2% 2%

c) Council Expenses 1% l%

d) Aher Operational 13% I2%o
Expenses
e) Depreciation 9% 9%

Operationsl Expenses 9l7o 93%

Academic Costs 5% 4%

Administration Costs 2o/o 2%

Student Welfare 2% l%o

69%

2%

t%

il%

95o/o

3%

lo/o

lo/o

69%

2%

l%

u%

t0%

94o/o

2o/o

lo/o

1,204

57

29

2t

rJil

75%

2%

t4%

0%

92Vo

4o/o

2o/o
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DEFICIT
The deficit for the year was KShs. 86,433,082 as compared to a deficit of KShs. 154,056,964 reported in the

previous year. The reduction in deficit was occasioned by decrease in depreciation expense as a result ofthe
revaluation ofall the assets done in June 2023.

Although the University was very prudent in the use of resources and wastages were minimized, the costs

remained high due to the semi variable nature ofthe expenses. The inflation being experienced in the country

also affected the univenity operations. The University will suffer technical insolvency should this trend

continue. The University will avoid going into insolvency by diversifing income generated intemally and

managing cost so that marginal cost will be equivalent to or less than the marginal rcvenue.

tncrease Revenue-The University will venturc into other sources of rcvenue generation. Other than

govemment gmnts and fees from students, the Univemity will explore other income generating activities

through research, innovation and commercialization.

Managing Costs-The University will institute cost management shategies. The University will ensure that

wastages are eliminated and efliciency is incrcased. We shall ernbrace innovation and automation in our

operations. Further, we shall benchmark with the best universities or other organizations in order to adopt the

best practices in our operations. All decisions will be made prudently. When making decisions, the financial
implications of the decisions will be considered. We shall focus on consolidating what we alrcady have

instead of starting new projects, depanments or faculties. We shall merge roles where they have been

duplicated. We shall strictly adhere to the budget allocations.

STATEMENT OF FINACIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2023

Arltr Krhr Xlht Krhr

Nonormt argar 5,21L603/414 2.6i17,8l3,65i,

I
C\ncm lirbllftlcs 537,430,148 u7A3O,773

Xrrcns Ild (8E6,197,6511 1824;ts,2$l

-

Totrl crDltrl rrd rr.rttl +950,6t9,9O 2,Wr,'701.8'

Statement of financial position is also referred to as the balance sheet and it provides an overview of a

University's assets, liabilities and capital as a snapshot in time. It is divided into three parts---assets,
liabilities md capital and reserves.
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t Assets

Current assets

Current assets are cash and short-term assets that can be quickly converted to cash within one year. The
University has the following current assets:

a) Cash and cash equivalents are liquid assets, which include cash in hand and cash at bank.
b) Prepaid expenses are costs that have been paid in advance ofwhen they are due. Prepaid expenses

include rent deposit, insurance paid in advance etc.
c) Accounts receivables are the amount of money owed to the University by students, staff or other

customers for the sale of ia product and service. Receivables fiom non-exchange transactions
include the capital grant from the govemment not yet received by the university as at 30 June 2023.

d) Inventory refers to the stock of goods that the University had on hand for use in the course of its
operation. Inventory included stationery, hardware materials, farm input, foodstuff and so on. The
University uses first in first out valuation method.

Non-curr€nt rssets

Non-current assets are long-term and have a useful Iife of more than a year. During the year, all non-cunents
assels were revalued

a) Property, plant, and equipment (PPE) arc capital assets owned by the University for its long-term
benefit and include la.nd, buildings, motor vehicles, computers and machinery. After revaluation,
the value of PPE increased from KShs. 2,630,85 I,248 in FY 2021l22 to KShs. 5,184,427,214 inFY
2022123. The significant increase was brought about by the value of land. The value of laad increased
from KShs. 108,292,000 inFY 2021/22 to KShs. 2,500,000,000 in FY 2022/23. Land was initially
valued in FY 2009/2010.

b) Biological Assets are lhe livestock kept by the University. The University has beef and dairy
animals. The value ofthe animals had depreciated due to age and harsh climatic condition.

c) lntangible asset cannot physically be touched but have future economic (and often long-term
benefits) for the University. The only intangible asset was the Miffosoft Navision ERP.

2. Liebilities

a. Trade and Other payable are the debts incurred in lhe normal course of operations of a business.
They also include payments due to suppliers. The University did not have long term debt.

b. Provision is a liability of uncertain timing and amount. The University made provision for gratuity
owing and outstanding part-time payments.

3. Capital and Reserves

Revenue Reserve is the type of reserve that is created from the deficit or surplus that an organization
makes during a financial year. Our Revenue Reserve is negative because the University has

accumulated deficits over the years.

Capital is composed of the assets inherited from Meru College of Technolory in July 2009 less

liabilities as at that time and the accumulated development funds from the Govemment ofKenya or
other extemal donors since the financial year 2008/09.

Revaluation Reserve is a non-cash reserve created lo reflect the true value of the asset when the
market value of a certain category ofasset is more or less than the value of such asset at which it is

a.

b

c
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recorded in the books of account. Revaluation rcserve was created when all the non-current assets

were revalued in the Fiu:pacial Y ar 2022J23 .

Rrtio Analysis

The current ratio--which is total current assets divided by total cunent liabilities-is commonly used by

analysts to assess the ability ofan organization to meet its shoftn€rm obligations. The University's curent

ration as at 30 June 2023 was 0.51 which means that the currenl assets could only cover 5l% ofthe liabilities.

Cash flow

The cash flow statement shows an organization's net cssh flow in a given period of time. It indicates where

the cash flowed from or to.

Cash flow statement for the ended 30 Jme 2023

w2u2n3 Fv 20zln2
Net cash flows from(used in) Operating activities t8,656,429 (94,887,49e)

Na cash flows from invesing Activities (194,480,823) (r9r,16r,006)

Na cash flows from Financing Activities 89,400,7s0 305,270,000

Net lncrease (Decreasc) in cash and cash equlvrlcnts (u,42,3,@) 19221,495

Cash and cash equivalens at beginning ofyear t67,915,314 148,693,820

Cash and cash equivalents at end ofyear 81,491.670 t67,915J14

The statement looks at the three main business activities that provide or use cash:
o Operating cash flows include cash received fiom customers and cash paid to supplien and

employees.
. lnvesting activities are the acquisition and disposal ofnonrurrent asse6.

o Financing (include dcvelopment funds fiom the govemment or other development partners)

At the beginning ofthe year, the University had a cash and cash equivalent ofKShs. 167,915,314. During the

year, there was a net cash inflow of Kshs. I 8,656,429 from operaling activities, a net cash outflow of KShs.

194,480,823 from investing activiti€s and a net cash inflow of KShs. 89,,100,750 from financing activities.

The combined total of the three aclivities for the period was a net cash outflow of Kshs 86,423,644.

Consequently, the cash and cash equivalent decreased fiom KShs. 167,915,314 at the beginning of the year

to KShs. 8 I ,49 I ,670 at the end of the year.

SECTION B

The University complied with all stanrtory requir€ments. The University withheld taxes wherc it was required

to do so. All withheld taxes, payroll deductions-NHlF, NSSF, PAYE, Pension and other deductions were

fully paid and on time.
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SECTION C

u

We plan to transform the University into a modem, sustainable leaming and working environment that is innovative
and engaging for both staffand students.

The University is undertaking the lbllowing major projects

l. Construction of Engineering Complex

'rfrf,i'
', ,a!.;l''"t""!..

rfi-,:#S
:i'''-

lneerrn Com lex as at 30.lune 2022

Engineering Complex as at 30 June 2023
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The works undertaken during the year worth KShs. 3,943,065 included landscaping and construction ofc€r parks tn
access road to the Engineering Complex. The entire pmjecl was 99lo complete as at 306 June 2023.

2. Comtructlon of S Ficlds

Sports Flelds as rt 30 Jun. 2022

Spor6 Ficl& $ rt 30 June 2fi8

The project includes consfuction ofvarious sports field, washrooms and rooms for change-rooms, pavilions, acc€ss to
the fields and drainage system for the fields.

The project has stalled due to lack of funds. The project has some pending bills which must be senled beforc firthcr
works rtsume. During the year, the Univenity received Kshs. 3,943,065 only.

The tender value ofthe project is KShs .232,742,353. By 30 June 2023, the University had paid totsl worts amounting
ro KShs. 1214,795,767.
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Projec't 20t7 tr8 2019no 2020m 2021n2 2022D3 Total Cootrsct
Sum

Sporb Fietd 40,000,000 62,29s,767 40,000,000 3,943,065 146138,832 232,742353

3. Construction of Nursing and Public Health Building

The project includes construction of specialized laboratories such as skills lab, diagnostic labs and anatomy and
physiologt labs. It will also include offices and lecture rooms. The building will be constructed in conformity with
thc requirements ofthe Nuning Council of Kenya.

By 306 June 2023, the project had stalled due to lack of funds. The status of the project as at 30 June 2023 was as
follows:

Project 2020m 2021n2 2022t23 Total Works Contrrct Sum
Nursing and Publlc
Health Buildinq 62,265,222 60,000,000 29,178,680 151,,14J"902 u2aEE.,69r

Nurcing and Publlc Heelth Building es.t 30 June 2022
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Nursing rnd Public Health Building as at 30 June 2023

4. Construction Works at Mrriene R6eorch l[stitute
Mariene Research Institute is located about 30 kilometers from the University. This is a newly established Instinrte
with a separate development allocation from the Govemment. However, the University manages the Research

Institutes' funds for the time being. The Institute will focus on research and post-graduate studies.

There are three major construction projects being carried out at the Institute, namely: the construction of Modem
Library, the construction of Administration Block and the construction of Science L:boratories.

The thee pojects were started in September 2020. Each project has a different contractor.

269200,E5^

During the financial year, very little construction work was done. Currently the projects are stalled and contractors
have deserted the sites.

ItlrdaoAdnhblrrdm 30.000,0d) r7.500,000 lrr,5(x),000 17t,w714 643m,7460,flt0,000
Meriene.Llbrarv 25,000,000 60,000,000 20,000,000 105,000,000 | 56,099,343 s l,099,343

u\7w,763 1s3,780,763IUrd.odrborrtod.t 25,000.000 60,000,000 10,000,000 95,000,000

Totsl 80,000,000 180,000,000 47,s{rc,000 307,s00,000 576,700,850
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Construction of Modem Library

Modem Library as at 30 llur:e 2022

Modem Library as at 30 June 2023
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2 Construction of Administration Block and Lecturc Halls and

Administration Block as at 30 June 2022

Administration Block as at 30 June 2023
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3. Construction of Sciencr Laboratories.

,!*.

kboratories as 30 lrne 2022

Laboratories as at 30 June 2023

t'4?. -
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SECTTON D

Operrttotrrl rkks

The university has initiated and facilitar€d the ploc€ss that will see the enhancement of risk management'

It has an integBted risk managemant frarnework. The University rccognizes the critical role the risk

management wiu continue to play in its endeavour to carry out its busin€ss in a dynamic environment. The

UnivJrsity is committed to ensuring that corporate govemance and risk management are deeply entranched

in is strategt and culh[e. An elaborate risk managonent strategy that will Provide dircclion on matters of

policy and guide the implementation and control has been developed'

This risk management frarnework captues the following among other things: -

O The University's risk appetite and parameters.

o The University's risk marix that highlighs the rating of risks'

O The struc'ture of managing risks urd accountabilities.

O The processes, procedures and rcports that manage risk.
a The mitigating factors, prevention, contingency plans and controls'

The University's core business involves major engagements with financial transactions and processes

which pose certain risks. The University Council has the overall responsibility for the esteblishment and

oversight ofthe University's risk muragunent framework. The University Council has delegated its risk

management to the .Audit Committee'. One of the responsibilities of this committee is to review risk

management strategies in order to ensure business continuity and survival. Most of the finmcial risks

arising from financial trarsactions and processes are managed by the 'Finance Committee' ofthe University

Council.
The financial management objectives and policies are as outlined below: -

a) Liquidity Rlsk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not have sufficient financial rcsources to meet its

obligations when they fall due or will have to do so at exc€ssive costs. This risk can arise from mismatches

in the timing of cash flows from revenue and capital/operational outflows, assets and liabilities according

to their maturity profiles.

The objective of the liquidity management is to ensure that all foreseeable operational and capital

commirnent expenditure can be met under both normal and stressed conditions and the mismatch is

controlled in line with allowable risk levels. The University has adopted an overall balarrce sheet approach

which consolidates all sources and uses of liquidity, white aiming to maintain a balance between liquidity,

cash flows and intercst rate considerations. The University's liquidity and funding management process

includes: -

. Projecting cash flows and considering the cash requircd and optimizing the short term requirements

as well as the long term funding,
. Maintaining balance she€t liquidity ratios.

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash to meet UniveBity obligations. The

University murages liquidity risk by maintaining ad€quate cash reserves to ensure liabilities are paid as

they fall due and to cushion againsl any liquidity risk. The table below shows the University's financial

liabiliti€s thal will be s€ltled on a net basis.
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The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows

Grh and carh oqulwlone 81,491i670 l[?l$t!llt*

Rcootv$los fiom qchrnSo fittrsodoos r2s;t3s,esi, .' t{fl1i"+ill

hvffiry 13,371.59f iffitto*

thd! ard odror papblos 437,s2e,6e4 3q[it{t2'

Tot lI&butlc 537ra30,ltl8 al?rlt0.rtl

I{dLlquldlty (260,e,4I$) Ot*lftolltr)

A liquidity ratio is a measurement which is used to indicate whether a debtor will be able to pay their short-
term debt off with the cash they have readily available or whether they'll need to raise additional capital to
cover the anount. ln other words it's a ratio that tells one's ability to pay off its debt as and when they
become due. A good liquidity ratio is anything greater than l. It indicates that the company is in good
financial health and is less likely to face financial hardships. The higher ratio, the higher is the safety margin
that the business possesses to meet its cunent liabilities. Generally, 2:l is treated as the ideal ratio. The
University's current ratio of0.5 t indicates an inadequate degree of liquidity, with only Kshs.5l ofcunent
assets available lo cover every Kshs. 100 of current liabilities.

b) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows offinancial instruments will fluctuate b@ause
of changes in foreign exchange rates, prices and interest rates. The objective of market risk management
policy is to protect and enhance the Stalements of Financial Position and Performance by managing and
controlling market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, to optimize the funding of business
operations and facilitate capital expansion. The University is exposed to the following market risks: -

(i) Cunency Rbk
Currcncy risk arises primarily from purchasing imported goods and services from oveneas or indirectly via
local supplies or services that are priced in foreign currcncy. Nevertheless, the currency risk is minimal as

cash and cash equivalents held with banks are denominated in Kenya Shillings and there were minimal
dealings in foreign currency. The University nevertheless has taken precaution against the risk by opening
a USA dollar accounts-
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(ii) Intetesl Rate Rlsk

The University is exposed to various risks associated with effects offluctuations in the prevailing levels of

market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. lnterest margin may increase as a result of

such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpecled movement arises. The University closely

monitors intercst rate movements and seeks to limit its exposure by managing the interest rate and maturity

stnrclurc of assets and liabilities on the statement offinancial position'

The inrerest rate risk was minimal as the University did not have any borrowings thal were charged interest'

c) Operational RJsk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with

the UniveBity's processes, personnel, technolory and infrastructure and from extemal factors other than

credit. market and liquidity risks such as legal and regulatory requirements and generally acceptable

standards of corporate behaviour. The University seeks to ensure that key oPerational risks are managed in

a timely and effective manner through a framework of policies, procedures and tools to identif, assess,

monitor and report such risks. The University's objective is lo manage operational risk so as to balance the

avoidance offinancial losses and damage to the University's reputation with overall cosl effectiveness and

to avoid control procedures that rcstrict initiative and creativity. The primary responsibility for the

development and implementation ofcontrols to address operational risk is assigned to senior management.

The responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for the management ofoperational

risk in the following areas: -

. Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of

transactions.
. Requirements for the reconcilialion and monitoring offinancial transactions'

. Compliance with regulatory and legal requirements.

. Documentation ofcontrols and procedures.

. Requiremenls for the yearly assessment ofoperational risks faced and the adequacy ofcontrols and

procedures to address the risks identified.
. Requirement for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action'
. Training and professional development.
. Ethical and business standards.
. Risk mitigation, including insurance where it is effective.

Operational risks are documented in the'Risk Register and Opportunity Assessment Document' and are

managed by the Risk Management Committee established to spearhead and coordinate risk management

activities. The measures taken include proactively identifling, analysing and mitigating risks in all facets

ofthe business.

d) Complirnce rnd Regulstory Risk
Compliance and regulatory risk includes the risk of non-compliance with regulatory requirements. The

University complied with all extemally imposed requirements throughout the year. Some ofthe regulatory

bodies include Teachers Service Commission, Commission for University Education, Nursing Council of
Keny4 NEMA, National Council for Persons with Disabilities and Clinical Oflicers Council.

e) Legal Risk
Legal risk is the risk of unexpecled loss, including reputational loss, arising from defective transactions or

contracts, claims being made or some other event resulting in a liability or the loss for the University, failure

to protect the titte to and liability to control the rights to assets of the Univenity (including intellectual

xlvi



Meru University of Science ahd Technologr
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the Year ended June 30, 2023

property right), changes in law or jurisdictional risk. The University manages legal risk through the legal
office, legal risk policies, procedures and the effective rrse of internal controls and extemal lawyers.

0 Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a borrower is unable to meet his financial obligations to the lender. The
University's credit risk is attributable to its cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables. Both bank
balances and trade receivables are fully performing and no debt has been impaired. The amount that best
represents the University's maximum exposure to credit risk is made up as follows:

Prcpoynoots 14,904,t06 :tfiilf.?39

Tbtd Erpoourr 22rn132fil6 
'tt,ttf,!./6/,$

SECTION E

The University did not have any material financial obligation during the year

SEC"TION F

There was no financial improbity reported during the year. No govemanc€ issues were reponed during the
ye.
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I O. ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTINC

i) Sustrintbilit stmtcgr rnd profile

The University has endtgvourcd to offer quality university education to attract more students. The University

operates in a very challenging environment. In the past' the govemment used to allocate students to

universities. Cunently, students choose the university oftheir preferen:e. The funding fiom the govemment

has been dwindling'while costs have continued lo increase. For instarce, the workers have betn demanding

for better pay but the govemment has not been financing the increased wage bills'

In order to attract more students, the University has improved the quality of our education. Every year we

have been receiving increasing number ofgovemment students. Vy'e have initiated several income generating

activities in order to reduce the dependency on govemment fund ing'

ii) Environmentsl Performance
The University was involved in environmental conservation a'livities as follows

(a) Tree planting at Meru Uniyersity of Science and Tecl nolog,,-Trees occupy more than ? I acrcs of the

University land. ln total, the UniveBity forest covei is l3yo of the total acreage. During the yeal, the

University continued to take carc ofthe trees including gapping, watering the trces during the dry spell

and pruning the trees as and when necessary.

O) Water Conservation

(c) Electricity PowerConservalion

1d) Meru University of Science and Technology (MUST) has developed an inbuilt-self-sustaining human

waste management system using the Black Soldier Fly that converts the wastes into commercially

viable products through ecotogically and environmentally friendly interventions supported by

innovative research and lechnolory. MUST is hosr to a bio-resourc.e based approach to sanitation.

iii) Employee r elfare
The Univenity recognises the importance ofthe health ofthe employees' and their dependents. Consequently,

during the year, the University improved the benefits in the medical scheme. In addition to the inpatient

medical cover, the staffalso benefited from an outpatient medical cover.

iv) Mrrk€t plsce practices

a. Fair competition practice- The University upholds fair administrative justice in accordance with

Article 47 of the constitution and the fair Administrative Action Act of20l5 in an effort to promote

ethical business practices.

b. Responsible supply chain management ond supplier relationships- The University has established a

database of the registered suppliers. These suppliers are equally given access to procurement

opportunities. The University makes sure that the appropriate payments are made within the specified

timeflame.
c. Adoption of ethical marketing and advertising-:fo promote our academic prognrms, we run

advertisements in a number of newspapers, on our websile and on social media. These advertisement

are produced in an ethical and respectable way.
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l) Princlp.l .ctivltlB
itre primary functions of the miversity arc still to provide and advance university education and training to

suitaily qualified applic€ns, culminating in the award of degrees, diplomas and certificates, as well as any

otner qual'ifications itrar the Council and the Senate may from time t,J time determine and in so doing contribde

to labour market needs.

Meru University o'f Sclence snd Technologr
Antrud Report rnd Finrncirl Ststcments

For the Yeer ended June 30' 2023

tI. REPORT OFTHE COUNCIL
The University council submits its report together with the financial statements for the year ended Jrme 30,

2023 which show the state ofthe University's affain.

ll) R€3ults

The financial performancc resuls ofthe University for the yea; ended June 30, 2023 are set out on Page I

lii) Unlversity Councll
The Council members who served during the year are shou n on page viii to page xii. During the year all the

eight Council members who werc appointed in the year 2020 retircd and eight new Council members were

appointed for a three year term with effect from 1 06 March 2023 '

iv) Audltors
The Auditor Genera! is responsible for the statutory audil of Meru University of Science and Technologr in

accordance with Article 229 of the Constifirtion of Kenya and the Public Audit Act 201 5 for the year oded

June 30, 2023.

By Order of the Council.

Prof. Romenus Odhlembo
Vlce Chincollor
Drtc: Scptember 14, 20:13



Meru University of Sciencb hnd Technology
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the Year ended June 30, 2023

I2, STATEIVlENT OF COUNCIL'S RESPONSIBILITIES
Section 8l of the Public Finance Management (PFM) Act,2012 and Section 47 of the Universities Act No.

42 of 2012, reqlire the University Council to prepare financial statements in respect ofthat University, which
give a true and fair view ofthe state ofaffairs ofthe University at the end ofthe financial year and the operating

results ofthe University for that year. The University Council is also required to ensure that the University
keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the

University. The University Council is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the University.

The University Council is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the University's financial
statements, which give a true and fair view ofthe state ofaffairs ofthe University for and as at the end olthe
financial year. This responsibility includes:

(i) Maintaining adequate financial management arrangements and ensuring that these continue to be

eflective throughour the reporting period. I

(ii) Maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

tinancial position ol- the University.
(iii) Dcsigning, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair

presentation ofthe financial statements, ensuring that they are free from material misstatemenls and

whether due to error or frar.rd.

(iv) Safeguarding the assets ofthe University.
(v) Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies.
(vi) Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The University Council accepts responsibility for the University's financial siatemenls, which have been

prepared using appropriate accounting policies supponed by reasonable, prudent judgements and estimates in
conformity with lnternational Public-Sector Accounting Standards (tPSAS) and in the manner required by the

PFM Act, 2012 and Section 47 of the Universities Act No. 42 of 2012. The University Council is of the

opinion that the University's financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of University's
transactions during the financial year ended June 30,2023 and ofthe University's financial position as at that

date. The University Council further confirms the completeness ofthe accounting records maintained by the

University, which have been relied upon in the preparation ofthe University's financial statements as well as

lhe adequacy ofthe systems of internal financial control.

Nothing has come to the attention ofthe University Council to indicate that the University will not remain a

going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of the financial statements
The University's financial statements were approved by the Council on September 14,2023 and signed on

its behalf by:

Dr. Jane Kiringai, PhD

Chairperson of the Council
Prof, Romanus Odhiambo
Vice Chancellor
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL ON MERU UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND
TECHNOLOGY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2023

PREAMBLE

I draw your attention to the contents of my report which is in three parts:

A. Report on the Financial Statements that considers whether the financial statements
are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework,
accounting standards and the relevant laws and regulations that have a direct effect
on the financial statements.

B. Report on Lav'dulness and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources which considers
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, gazette notices, circulars,
guidelines and manuals and whether public resources are applied in a prudent,
efficient, economic, transparent and accountable manner to ensure Government
achieves value for money and that such funds are applied for the intended purpose.

C. Report on Effectiveness of lnternal Controls, Risk Management and Governance
which considers how the entity has instituted checks and balances to guide internal
operations. This responds to the effectiveness of the governance structure, the risk
management environment and the internal controls, developed and implemented by
those charged with governance for orderly, efficient and effective operations of the
entity.

An unmodified opinion does not necessarily mean that an entity has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations and that its internal controls, risk management and
governance systems are properly designed and were working effectively in the financial
year under review.

The three parts of the report are aimed at addressing the statutory roles and
responsibilities of the Auditor-General as provided by Article 229 of the Constitution, the
Public Finance Management Acl,2012 and the Public Audit Act, 2015. The three parts
of the report, when read together constitute the report of the Auditor-General.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qualified Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Meru University of Science and
Technology set out on pages 1 to 40, which comprise of the statement of financial position

Report ofthe Auditor-Gener( on Meru Universiry ofScience and Technologtfor the year ended 30June,2023



oas at 30 June, 2023, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes
in net assels, statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and actual
amounts for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information in accordance with the provisions of Article 229 of lhe
Constitution of Kenya and Section 35 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. I have obtained all
the information and explanations which, to the best of my knowledge and belief, were
necessary for the purpose of the audit.

ln my opinion, except for the effects of the mafter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section of my report, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Meru University of Science and Technology as at
30 June, 2023, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended,
in accordance with lnternational Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual Basis) and
comply with the Universities Act, 2012 and the Public Finance Management Act,2012 .

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Outstanding Student Debtors

The statement of financial position reflects receivables from exchange transactions
totalling Kshs.125,735,982. The amount includes student debtors amounting to
Kshs.124,426,367 as disclosed in Note16 to the financial statements which have been
outstanding for over one year.

ln the circumstances, the recoverability of the student debtors amounting to
Kshs. 1 24,426,367 is doubtful.

The audit was conducted in accordance with lnternational Standards of Supreme Audit
lnstitutions (lSSA|s). I am independent of the Meru University of Science and Technology
Management in accordance with ISSAI 130 on Code of Ethics. I have fulfilled other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the ISSAI and in accordance with other ethical
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Kenya. I believe
that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my qualified opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

Material Uncertainty on Sustainability of Services

The statement of financial position reflects total current assets and total current liabilities
totalling Kshs.276,486,695 and Kshs.539,479,300, respectively, resulting in a negative
working capital of Kshs.262,992,605. This casts significant doubts on the University's
ability to continue as a going concern.

ln the circumstances, the University is technically insolvent and may not be able to meet
its current obligations as and when they fall due.

My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter

Report ofthe Audilor-General on Meru University o/Science and Technologgt lor the year ended l0 June, 20?3
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, are of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements. There were no key audit matters to
report in the year under review.

Other Matter

Unresolved Prior Year Matters

ln the audit report of the previous year, several issues were raised under the Report on
Financial Statements, Report on LaMulness and Effectiveness in Use of Public
Resources, and Report on Effectiveness of lnternal Controls, Risk Management and
Governance which have remained unresolved.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Conclusion

As required by Article 229(6) of the Constitution, based on the audit procedures
performed, except for the matters described in the Basis for Conclusion on LaMulness
and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources section of my report, I confirm that, nothing
else has come to my aftention to cause me to believe that public resources have not been
applied lawfully and in an effective way.

Basis for Conclusion

1. Ethnic Composition of Employees

Review of records revealed that the University had a total of 444 employees out of which
281 employees or 63% were from the dominant ethnic community. This was contrary to
Section 7(2) of the National Cohesion and lntegration Act, 2008 which provides that no
public establishment shall have more than one third of its staff from the same ethnic
community.

ln the circumstances, Management was in breach of the law.

2. Lack of Public Finance Management Standing Gommittee

During the financial year under review, the University did not have a Public Finance
Management Committee (standing committee) as required by Regulation 18(1) of the
Public Finance Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015.

ln the circumstances, Management was in breach of the law.

Report oflhe Auditor-Generql on Meru University ofScience and Technologt for the yeor ended 30 June, 2023
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3. Delayed Completion of Projects

The statement of financial position reflects property, plant and equipment totalling
Kshs.5,184,427,214. The amount includes to work-in-progress totalling
Kshs.598,644,481 as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements. As previously
reported, the work-in-progress amount includes construction of sports fields at University
amounting to Kshs.171,537,625 which was awarded on 30 July, 2020 at a cost of
Kshs.232,742,353. The contract period was twenty-nine (29) weeks with effect from
14 September, 2020. Review of record revealed that the contract completion date which
had expired on 2 March, 2021 was later extended to 30 October, 2023. However, as at
the time of audit in October, 2023, the total works certified amounted to
Kshs.171 ,537,625 or 74o/o of the contract sum and the contractor was not on site. The
Management did not provide justification for the delayed implementation.

Further, the work-in-progress amount includes four (4) construction projects totalling
Kshs.309,421,504 with contract totalling Kshs.978,989,541 which have stalled.

ln the circumstances, the value for money for work in
Kshs.480,959,129 could not be confirmed.

progress amounting to

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 4000. The standard requires that I

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain assuranc€
about whether the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the
financial statements are complying, in all material respects, with the authorities that
govern them. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my conclusion.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

Conclusion

As required by Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act,2015, based on the audit
procedures performed, I confirm that, nothing else has come to my attention to cause me
to believe that internal controls, risk management and overall governance were not
effective.

Basis of Conclusion

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 2315 and ISSAI 2330. The standards
require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether effective
processes and systems of internal control, risk management and overall governance were
operating effectively, in all material respects. I believe that the audit evidence I have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my conclusion.

Report ofthe Auditor-General on Meru University o/Science and Technologt for the yeor ended 30 June, 2023
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Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with lnternational Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual
Basis) and for maintaining effective internal control as Management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control, risk management and overall governance.

ln preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the
University's ability to continue to sustain its services, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to sustainability of services and using the applicable basis of accounting unless
Management is aware of intention to terminate the University or to cease its operations.

Management is also responsible for the submission of the financial statements to the
Auditor-General in accordance with the provisions of Section 47 of the Public Audit Act,
2015.

ln addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, Management is also responsible for ensuring that the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are
following the authorities which govern them, and that public resources are applied in an
effective way.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the University's financial
reporting process, reviewing the effectiveness of how Management monitors compliance
with relevant legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring that effective processes
and systems are in place to address key roles and responsibilities in relation to overall
governance and risk management, and ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the
control environment.

Auditor-General's Responsibilities for the Audit

The audit objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion in accordance with the provisions
of Section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and submit the audit report in compliance with
Anide 229(7) of the Constitution. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with lSSAls will always
detect a material misstatement and weakness when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

ln addition to the audit of the financial statements, a compliance audit is planned and
performed to express a conclusion about whether, in all material respects, the activities,
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in
compliance with the authorities that govern them and that public resources are applied in

Report of the Auditor-Cenerel on Meru University ofScience and Technologt /or the year ended 30 June, 2023
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an effective way, in accordance with the provisions of Article 229(6) of the Constitution
and submit the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) ot lhe Constitution.

Further, in planning and performing the audit of the financial statements and audit of
compliance, I consider internal control in order to give an assurance on the effectiveness
of internal controls, risk management and overall governance processes and systems in
accordance with the provisions of Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 201 5 and submit
the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of the Constitution. My consideration of
the internal control would not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control that
might be material weaknesses under the lSSAls. A material weakness is a condition in
which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does not
reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by error or fraud in
amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may
occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control may not prevent or detect
misstatements and instances of non-compliance. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with lSSAls, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

a

a

a

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management's use of the applicable basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the University's
ability to continue to sustain its services. lf lconclude that a material uncertainty
exists, I am required to draw attention in the auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my
opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
my audit report. However, future events or conditions may cause the University to
cease to continue to sustain its services.

Report oflhe Auditor-Generol on Meru University ofScience and Technologtfor the yeor ended 30 June, 2023
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a Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information and
business activities of the University to express an opinion on the financial statements.

. Perform such other procedures as I consider necessary in the circumstances.

I communicate with Management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that are identified during the audit.

I also provide Management with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence and
where applicable, related safeguards.

FCPA a u cBs
AUDITOR-GENERAL

Nairobi

26 March,2O24

a

Reporl oflhe Audilor-Generql on Meru University ofScience and Technologtfor the year ended 30 June, 202i
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I.I. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THf YEAR ENDED JO.IUNE 2O2J

Note Ksh&

56,70?,32s

29,449,467

21,334,61l

Ksha

38,978,733

32,434,948

t7,817,32t

Revenue from non-exchange transsctions

Grans in Aid

Donations and Gifis

Revenue from exchBnge transaclions

Tuition and other Fees

Other Income

Total revenue

Erpenses

Operational Expenses

Academic Costs

Administration Costs

Student Welfare

Tolal expenses

Prof. Romanus ()dhianrbo. l'hD
Vice Chancellor
Da(e: Scplembcr I {. 202J

738,7$,4n 718,136,740

358,200

7r8,49a,9a0

l8 t,800

1s&9652n

457452,84s

28,189,677

1l85,642,521

I 224,607 ,7 43

506.963.101

29,008,151

5:t5.971,{S2

t,254,466)92

t0 1,205,598,5?4 t.319,292,354

ll

6

7

8

9

t2

l3

1Jt3,089,977 1,408,523J55

Deficit (88,482134) (rs4,056,964)

Ihc notcs sct out on pagcs l6 k) -.i0 lirrnr an integrul part ol'thcse l.'inancial Statemcnts. 'I'hc liinancial
Statcments set olrt on pagcs I to 6 \\erc signed on behalfol thc t.lni',crsity (iruncil by:

Cl'A Ncphat Njeru
Finance Officer
ICPAK NO:71{5
Date: Scptember l{. 202.1

Dr. Jane Kiringai. l'hl)
Chairperson of the Council
Date: September I {, 202J



Meru Llniversi(v of Science and Technologv
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the Year ended June.l0, 2023

I5. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIoN AS AT 30 JI.JNE 2023

Allcts

Currcnt Assets

cash snd cash equivslanB

Prepayments

Receivables fiom orcharup mnsaciions

Receivables from exchange non transactions

Invantory

NoD-qrrrcnt 8!rct3

Property, plant and equiPment

Biological Assets

lntangible Asset (ERP)

Liablllties

Currctrt llsbllltt6
Trade and other payables from exchange

transact ions

Provisiorl3

Total liabilitles

N€t sss€ts

Capital

Reserw Fund

Revaluation Reserve

Totrl net els€E snd llrbllltlcs

Vice Chancellor
Date: Scptember l.l, 2023

24

25

26

CPA Nephat Njeru
Finance ()lTicer

ICPAK NO:71.15
Date: September I {, 202J

IGhs

81,491,670

14,904,406

125,735,9t2

40,983,041

13,371,596

276,486,695

5,t84,427,214

l,l0l,000

26,075,200

5211,603114

5,48E,090,t 09

101,649,606

539,479,300

3,397.009,603

(888,246,803)

2,439,848,009

4"9.r8,6t0,E08

Kshs

167,915,314

13.062,139

I16,174,595

t4,066,109

3l t,2r8,757

2,630,851,248

540,000

6,422,405

2,637,813,653

2,949,032,410

52,459,250

4473J0,773

3.266.625,812

(824,764,246)

59.840,07 I

2501,701,637

l4

l5

l6

t7

t8

l9

20

2t

22

23

43'1.829,6s4 394.871.523

4,948,610,809 2,501,70t,637

'l'hc Financial Statemcnts sel out on pages I to 6 wcrc signed on behall ofthe LJnivcrsity Council b1

rof. Romanu s Odhiambo, PhD Dr.,lane Kiringai, Pht)
Chairperson of the Council
Date: September I {, 202J
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16. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202]

fiffiT8' '.1.!Wilf
Bslancc as at 30 Junc 2021

Effimffimk
Add: NRF Equipmcnt Grant

{ffi..9;1:;r-$$'lEfr'f
Brlsnc. 8s al 30 Juns 2022

Dtqik$!#1ffifi+r,l

5,270,000

'"-tt.' :: . t' trr"l ,..

3,26f,625,8t2

, ': ,, ;41I83.0{l
1E,400,750

2,96r,35s,812 (670,707283) 5qE40,07t 2,350,48E,600

..X,.,,qi:afi#il[flmqoo .::;ffi,!ffi m

Add: NRF Equipmcnt Orant

Canccl lation oflong Outstrnding
Dcbt.

5,270,000

epm FIM}(t24,7612$t 59,840,071 2,501,701,636

i;,ffiirrmffi,ffiffi
18,400.750

'.'.*IE-mI:iEk
24,999,678 24,999,678

iqffiffiflEry
(8tt 46rEGl) 2"139,t'18,00 a,9a&610r09

ffi il.i,::;i;i;ifr ;"fn:i

Brlmcc r! rt 30 June 2023

., - i,. , -.1. .,!''i' ". ,'.'
3197,009,603

Revenue Reserve

Revenue reserve is the type of reserve that is created from the deficit or surplus that an organization makes

during a financial year. Our Revenue Reserve is negative because the University has accumulated deficits over
the years.

Capital
Capital is composed ot:

. The assets inherited from Meru College ofTechnology in July 2009 less liabilities as at that time.

. The accumulated development funds liom lhe Govemment of Kenya or other extemal donors since
the financial year 2008/09.

. NRF Equipment Grant: This is a concessional Infrastructural grant ofKShs. 56 Million from National
Research Fund. lt was accounted as cash and cash equivalent for in 2018/2019 as wellas a payable as
per the contract. The funds are capitalised once the agreed equipment are purchased and put in use.

Revaluation R€serve

Revaluation reserve was created when Fumiture, Computers, Machinery and Equipment and Motor Vehicles
were revalued. Fumiture. Computers, Machinery and Equipment were revalued in the Finan cial Y ear 2022123.

r Cancellation of long Outstanding Debt
The debt of KShs.24,999,678 that was listed on our books as owing to lnter Public Universities Council
Consultative Forum (IPUCCF) for the fiscal year 2022-2023 was cancelled during the period. This
was approved by the University Council having taken into consideration of the following
information.
Meru University of Science and Technology (MUST) was awarded KShs. 96,800,000 in 2014 to help
implement CBA 2010/2013. The university used KShs. 65,898,000 ofthe funds received to pay the
arrears on the basic salary and housing allowance. The remaining funds were to be utilized to
maintain the increased basic pay and housing benefits. However, MUST together with other new
university then such as Embu, Taita Taveta, DeKUT, Murang'a was asked to refund the remaining
KShs. 30,902,000 via a letter from the then-Chairperson of Universities Vice Chancellors' Comm ittee

3
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(Pro Mabel Imbuga) darcd l5th April 2014. The money was to be deposited in the defunct Joint

idmissions soad's (JAB) bank account in six instalmens. The first and only instalment of KShs.

S,SOi,lZe was made on ist Septembcr 2014. It bccame impractical for the committce of vice

"ii-""tloo 
(IPUCCF ) to demand refunds from universities. Thcrefore the debt to IPUCCF as was

list in the books had bcen outstanding since 2014. Repudattion thc debt affected the rtvenue rcs€rve

and the said Creditor that is IPUCCF.
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I7. STATEMENT oF CASH FLOWS FOR THT] YEAR ENDF]D ]O.II]NE 2O2J

Caeh llows fron(uscd io) OpeEtlng rctlvides
Receipts

Transfers from other govemments entities

Tuition and other Fees

Donalions and Gifts
Sale of goods(Other Income)

lnterest on Deposits

Total Receipts

Payments

Use of goods and services

Employee costs

Council Expenses

Total Payments

Net cash flows from/(used in) Opersting activiaies

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Work In Progress

Fumiture & Fittings

Computers

ERP

Motor Vehicle

Machinery & Equipment

Biological Assets

Net cash llows from investing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITI ES
GOK Development Grants allocated to Finance
Capital Fund
NRF Equipment Grant

Net cash flows from Flnanclng Actlvities

Net lncrease (Decrcase) in cash and cash equivalens

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ofyear
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

18,656,429 (94,887,499)

NOTE I(SES. KSIIS.

718,136,7/0

448,383, r37

358200

38,251,976

r,462,981

r,206,593,034

27(r)

27(b)

27(c)

27(d)

27(e)

27(D

27(e)

27(h)

738,783A22

447,723,353

18t,800

25,s4 r,730

974,385

rr13,204,690

a

270,308,582

908,812,813

15,426,86s

t,t94$48260

339,942.6?2

943,887,435

17,650A77

rJ0r,480.s33

l9
l9
l9
2t

l9
l9
20

(144,476,447)

( 13,308,320)

(3,46E,680)

(407,972)

(7,884,728)

(23,67 4,67 6)

(1,260,000)

(r94,480,823)

(180,481,921)

( 1,752,840)

(2,426A70)

(209.038)

(6,290;737)

( l9l, r 6l,006)

27(i)

l4

71,000,000

18,400,750

E9,400.75n

(86,4X!,64{)

167,9t5,314

8r,49t,670

300,000,000

5,270,000

305r70000

,9a2rAgs

148,693,820

l6?,915J l4
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I8. STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDCET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

Ravcloc

Ol[r' i! Ald

Tuifon aod othcr
Fees

Ol!.r llamc
Tolil lncomc

Erpru.
Operational ExPen',€s

a)Ps!@l
EEdrrrEb
b) Maint€nance Costs

o) Cum[ E4,cE r
d) Othe, OpqJtional
Exp€nses

Ao.hlocBB
Adminislr8tion Costs

$uhtWclfsr
Toaal axparta3

nfr-ro,,6
X!h!
n\lBln
401,637,000

50,3dt,000

I ,190,7E3,422

t,/.99tgvl

26,r01,250

l&673,16t

160.614.512

qr,l I1.200

20,3 | 1,930

r9g,?A55
1.t90,7E3,422

Ztn,.zfil3
K!hr

zfit2-l0,3
Kshs

71\1t3lU
411.443.97 5

13214937

l143-t02J34

21,026,250

18,673,t68

158.258,545

69,52620o

r9.215.248

9,n3265
r.243502J15

2Un 2013

K!h!
1ttJ83,4t2
451.452.844

z0,,,-,,c,6
K!hr

l0e/6
970/"69,E06,975

( 17,088,063)

52,71E,912

8t,t31,162

(5,075.m0)

(2,355,%8)

(20Jt5,000)

( r,096,6t3 )

2t37\4n
1,224,&7,743

t5%
98.h

t3.991,130.45
(4,903,451)

( l t,E94-591 )

(4,5s5,269)

t24638
(28,19r,238)

12,818.6?5

( 10.234.220)

( 1J61,346)

(59,587,643)

a

936p9,659 98,140,406 (41J10,747) tuvo

25,581.519

t5,426,t65

186,449,783

1220/o

83!o

I l8%

t6Jm 325
79.449.467

2l J34,61I
1,313,089,977

82v"

t53v"

tut"h
rM./.

b

c

d

e

f
a

52,718,9t I

Notes to the Statement of ComPsrison of Budget and Actual Amounts

The original budget was KShs. I . 190.781.422. During thc year. a supplenlental) budget ol'KShs 52.7 I 8.S I I

rvas approved b1 the Council. 'l'he final recurrent budget was theretbrc Kshs 1.243.502.3i5'

Adjustments :.Budget for'fuition and other l'ees uas increased by KShs. 69.806.975 while btrdget for

revenue liom other sources rvas decreased by KShs. 17.088.063. On thc other hand the budget lor Personnel

cmolument was increased by KShs. 81.83 I .56? rlhile the lbllorving budgets were reduced: Maintenancc

(KShs. 5.075.000). ) other operalional Expenses(KShs. 2.155.968). Academic Costs (KShs. 20.585.000).

Administration costs (KShs. ( 1.096.681).

a) other lncome: The revised budget for orher lncorne was KShs. 11,27,1.917. The tJniversitl

managed to raise a loral of KShs. KShs. 28.371 .47'? or 857o of the budgcled revcnue. The remon

lor the poor pertbrmance was that there was a decline in lhe revenue from the Farm due to poor

weather experienced during the year.

b) Maintensnce Cost: '['here was a 229.6 variance in maintenance cost. This rvas broughl about by somc

major repair and mainlenance works done. There was heavy use of tacilities especially during the

Fy2O2l122 whereby semesters were running back to back. The need fbr special rooms necesitated

thc modification ot some rooms. The cost ofrepair uorks was higher than anticipated due to incrcase

in cost of materials.

c) Council Expenses: 'l'here was a change in the council in the third quarter 01'the year. As such some

ol the planned activities did not take place. Therefore. this led to a variance of I7%.

d) Other Operatioal Expens€s: There uas a variance of l8o/o. 'Ihe following items were the cause of
the high variance level:

. Rent and Rates: Had been allocated KShs. 7.287.775 at the beginnin8 of the year and the actual

cost was KShs. 16,520.178. The Meru Town Campus had been earmarked tbr closure by December

2022. However. ir uas not closed. During the year, the tJniversity leased an office in Nairobi

6
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(Nairobi Liaison and Intemationalization Oflice). The University also continued to op€rate th€
Marimba Centre.
Medical Erpenscs -Outpati€nt: The initial plan at the beginning of the year was for the
University to take a medical insurance cover for staff. The Outpatient expenses were to be incurred
by an insurance sewice provider. However, in the course of the year a hybrid system was
introduced. Staff members could either choose medical insurance cover or the outpatient services
as per the Medical Scheme.
. Provision of bad and doubtful debts: The University Debt Policy was approved during the

year and as such a 5olo oftotal receivables arnounting to Kshs. 8,335,951 being provision for
bad md doubtful debts was charged.

e) Academic Expenses: There was a variance of 18% .This was mainly brought about by under
expenditurc on Research, Innovation, Commercialisation and Extension activities.

f) Administretion Cost: There was a variance of 53%. This was brought about by expenditure on
"Stationery". We had plans to reduce the cost of stationery by having a document management
system (DMS). That way we would reduce on use of papers, toners and catridges.. However, we did
not succeeed in having a DMS hence the variance.

7
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tt) Ne,'., and amended slandards and interprelations in issue but not yel elfeAive in lhe year ended 30

June 2023.

Elf€ctivc date and impact:

Applicable: l" JanuorY 2023:

The objective oflPSAS 4l is to establish principles for the financial reporting offinanciar

assets and liabilities thal will Prcsenl relevant and useful information to users of financial

statements for their assessment ofthe amounts, liming and uncertainty ofan entity's future

cash flows. IPSAS 4l provides users of financial statemenls with more useful information

than IPSAS 29, by:

(a) Applying a single classification and measurement model for financial assets that

considers the characteristics ofthe asset's cash flows and the objective for which the

asset is held;

(b) Applying a single forward-looking expected credit loss model that is applicable to all

financial instruments subject to impairment teslinS; and

(c) Applying an improved hedge accounting model that broadens the hedging

arangements in scope of the guidance. The model develops a strong link between an

entity's risk management strategies and the accounting treatment for instruments held

as part ofthe risk management strategy.

I9. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l. General lnformrtion-' 
ffri Uniueoity is established by and derives its authority and accountabili'1 from University Act 2012. The

Uniu"oity l. *t otty owned by tihe Govemment of Kenya and is domiciled in Kenya. The university's principal

activity is to provid'e quality university education, training and research in sr ience technology and innovation.

2. Statement ofCompliance and Basls of Preparation
The financial statem;nb have b€en prcpared on a historical cost basis ex ,e',t for the measurement at rc-valued

amounts of certain items of pmperty, plant and equipment. The f repamtion of financial statements in

conformity with lnremational iublic Sector Accounting Standards (l PSAS) allows the use of estimates and

assumptions. lt also requires management to exercise judgement in I he process of applying the University's

accounting policies. Thi areas involving a higher degree ofjudgemer t and complexity where assumptions and

estimates;e significant to the financial statements are disclosed in \lote 5 of these financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared and presented in Ke tya Shillings, which is the functional and

reporting currency ofthe University. The financial statemens hav' been prepared in accordance with the PFM

ect, tnJ State iorporations Act and Intemational Public S'.ctor Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The

accounting policies adopted have been consistently applied to "l the years presented'

3. Adoption ofNew and Revised Standsrds

8

Standard
IPSAS 4I:
Financial

Instruments

IPSAS 42t
Social Benefits

Applicable: lx January 2023

The objeaive ofthis Standard is to improve the relevance, faithful representativeness and

comparability of the information thal a reporting entity provides in its financial statements

about social benefits. The information provided should help users ofthe financial statements

and general purpose financial reports assess:

(a) The nature ofsuch social benefits provided by the entity;
(b) The key features ofthe operation ofthose social benefit schemes; and
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Strndrrd Erlective dote and imprct:
(c) The impact of such social benefits provided on the entity's financial performance,

financial position and cash flows.
Amendments

to Other

IPSAS

resulting from

TPSAS 41,

Financial

Instrument

Applicrble: lst January 2023:

a) Amendments to IPSAS 5, to update the guidance related to the components of
bonowing costs which were inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 4l was issued.

b) Amendments to IPSAS 30, regarding illustrative examples on hedging and credit

risk which were inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 4l was issued.

c) Amendments to IPSAS 30, to update the guidance for accounting for financial

guaranteed contracts which were inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 4l was issued.

d) Amendments to IPSAS 33. to update the guidance on classifiing financial

instruments on initial adoption of accrual basis IPSAS which were inadvertently

omitted when IPSAS 4l was issued.

Other

improvements

tO IPSAS

Applicable ld January 2023

o IPSAS 22 Disclosure of Financial lnformation about lhe General Govemment Sector.

Amendments to rcfer to the latest Syslem ofNational Accounts (SNA 2008).

. IPSAS 39: Employee Benefits. Now deletes the lerm composite social security benefits

as it is no longer defined in IPSAS.

. IPSAS 29: Financiel instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Standard no

longer included in the 2023 IPSAS handbook as it is now superseded by IpSAS 4l
which is applicable from ls January 2023.

L New and amended standards and interpretations in issae but not lel elfective ln lhe year ended J0

June 2023.

Stgndard Eflective drte ond impact:

IPSAS 43:

Leases

Applicable la January 2025

The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation, and

disclosure of leases. The objective is to ensure that lessees and lessors provide relevant

information in a manner that faithfully represents those transactions. This information

gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect that leases have on the

financial position, financial performance and cashflows ofan Entity.

The new standard requires entities to recognise, measure and present informalion on right

ofuse assets and lease Iiabilities.

IPSAS,I4:

Non- Curent

Assels Held

for Sale and

Applicable Id January 2025

The Standard requires,

9
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Strndrrd

Discontinued

Operations

Effectlv€ date and imPact:

Assets that meet the criteria to be classif.ed as held for sale to be measured at the lower of

carrying amount and fair value less cos,ts to sell and the depreciation ofsuch assets to cease

and:

Assets that meet the criteria to be r:lassified as held for sale to be presented sepamtely in

the statement of financial position and the results of discontinued operations to be

prcsented separately in the stalement of financial performance

Earty adoption of standards

The University did not early - adopt any new or amended standards in year ended 30 June, 2023

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a) Revenue recognition

i) Revenue fmm non-exchange transactions

Translers from other government entities

Revenues from non-exchange transactions with other govemment entities are measured at fair value

and recognized on obtaining control of the asset (cash, goods, services and property) if the transfer is

free from conditions and it is probable that the economic benefits or sewice potential related to the asset

will flow to the University and can be measured reliably.

Govemment Grants and Assistance

Financial assiSance provided by the Govemment is recognised in the year it was received or when the

entitlement for the revenue is established. Most of the govemmenl grans and assistance received are

considered to be contributions. A contribution occurs when the University rcceives an asset without

having to give equal value to the other party / parties ofthe transfer. Ifthe consideration received is in

the form of a contribution, the income is to be recognised as rcvenue when all of the following

conditions have been salisfied:

. The Universig obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution.

. It is probable that the contribution will flow to the University and the amount ofthe contribution

can be rcliably measured.

lncome is therefore, only recognised when the University has control over the contribution, which is

usually achieved through rcceipt or when entitlement for the revenue is established. Ifthe govemmenl

contribuions arc received with conditions attached and contributions have to be refunded if the

conditions are not met, then rcvenue should not be recognised until all of those conditions are met and

treated as income in advance or monies held fiom the govemment.

ii) Revenue from exchrnge trrnsections

The University recognises revenue arising from the following transactions and events

. Student fees and charges.

o The rendering ofservices.

l0
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Other rcvenue.

Measurement of Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value ofthe consideration received or receivable, where in most cases

the consideration is in the form of cash or cash equivalents.

Recognition of Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable thal the
future economic benefils will flow to the Univenity and specific criteria have been met for each ofthe
following activities as described below.

Studmt Fees and Charges

Student fees and charges are recognised as revenue in the year which the service is provided to students.

Student fees and charges received that relale to the service to be rendered in the future period are treated
as income in advance.

Rendering of Sertices
Revenue recognition based on conlracts to provide services require income to be recognised in stages

of completion often as a percentage of services performed to the total of services to be provided as

stipulated in the contract. Revenue associated with the sale of services is recognised by reference to the
stage ofcompletion ofthe transaction at the reporting date when the outcome ofa transaction involving
the rendering of services can be estimated reliably. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated
reliably when all ofthe following conditions are satisfied:

i.The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
ii.lt is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaclion will flow to the

University.
iii.The stage of completion ofthe transaction at the reporting date can be measured rcliably.
iv.The costs incurred for the transaclion and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured

reliably.

Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaclion will flow to the University. However, when an uncertainty arises about the cotlectability of
an amount alrcady included in revenue, the uncolleclable amount or the amount in respect of which
recovery has ceased to be probable is recognised zrs an expense rather than as an adjustment of the
amount of rcvenue originally recognised.

Other Revenue

Other revenue represents miscellaneous income and other grant income not derived from core business
and is recognised when it is eamed.

b) Budget information
The annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis, that is, all planned coss and income are prcsented
in a single statement to determine the needs ofthe University. As a result ofthe adoption ofthe accrual
basis for budgeting pur?oses, there are no basis, timing or entity differences that would require
reconciliation between the actual comparable arnounts and the arnounts presented as a separate
additional financial statement in the statement ofcomparison ofbudget and actual amounts.

ll
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c) Property, plsnt end equlpment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment

lo.r"r. bos includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the it€ms. when

significant pans ofproperty, plant and equipment are required to be rePlaced at intewals, the university

.Jognir"s iuct parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Likewise, wherr a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount ofthe

plant and equipment as a rcplacement if the recognition criteria are satisf,led. All other repair and

maintenance costs are recognized in surplus or deficit as incurred. W,lere an asset is acquired in a non-

exchange transaction for nil or nominal consideration the asset is inirially measured at its fair value.

d)Financial instrumcnts
Financial assels

Initial recogni on and meosurcrnenl

Financial assets within the scope of IPSAS 29 Financial lnstrumenls: Recognition and Measurement

are classified as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit, loans and receivables, held-to'

maturity investments or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Univenity determines

the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition'

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables arc non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pa)'rnents that are

nol quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently

measured at arnortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Amortized cost is

calculated by taking into account any discount or plemium on acquisition and fees oI costs that are an

integral part ofthe effective interest rate. Losses arising from impairment are recognized in the surplus

or deficit.

Impairme offinancial sssels

The University assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset

or an entity offinancial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a University offinancial assets is deemed

to be impaired ifand only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result ofone or more events

that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 'loss event') and that loss event

has an impact on the estimated fuhre cash flows of the financial asset or the University of financial

assets thal can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include the following indicators:

. The debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty.

. The probabiliry that debtors will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization'

. Observable data indicates a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows (e.g

changes in arrears or economic conditions that conelate with defaults).

e) Inventories
Inventory is measured at cost upon initial recognition. After initial recognition, inventory is measured

at the lower ofcost and net realizable value.

Inventories arc recognized as an expense when deployed for utilization or consumption in the ordinary

course of operations ofthe University.
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f) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Univenity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that atr outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service
potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made ofthe amount of
the obligation.

The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement offinancial performance net ofany
reimbursement.

C o nt in g e nl I ia b il ll i es

The University does not recognize a contingent liability, but discloses details of any contingencies in
the notes to the financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits or service potential is remote.

g) Nature rnd purpose of reserves
The University creates and maintains reserves in terms of specific requirements. The Univenity has
thre€ reserves namely: Revenue Reserve, Capital Reserve and Revaluation Reserve. Reserves are
recorded as liabilities because reserves are counted as part ofthe University's net worth.

Revenue Reserve is composed ofaccumulated surplus or deficits.

Capital is composed ofthe following:

a Value ofnon-cunent assets as at 30 June 2009.

a Development grants received from the govemment from July 2009 to date.

a Transfers from Revenue Resewe. Capital expenditure over and above the development grants
from the Govemment is financed by the Revenue Reserve.

Revaluation Reserve is a non-cash reserve created to reflect the true value of the assets when the
mfiket values ofthe various categories ofassets are more or less than the value ofsuch assets at which
they are recorded in the books ofaccount.

h) Changes in accounting policies and estimates
The University recognizes the effects of changes in accounting policy retrospectively. The effects of
changes in accounting policy are applied prospectively if retrospective application is impractical.

i) Employee benefits

Retircment benefit plans: The University provides retirement benefits for its employees. Defined
contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the University pays fixed
contributions into a separate University Pension Scheme (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee
benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The contributions to fund
obligations for the payment ofretirement benefits are charged against income in the year in which they
become payable.

j) Related parties
The University regards a related party as a person or an entity with the ability to exert control individually
or jointly, or to exercise significant influence over the university, or vice versa. Members of key
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managementareregardedasrelatedpartiesandcomprisetheChancellor,theCouncilmembers,theVice
Chancellor, the Deputy Vice Chanc€llors and senior managers'

k) Cash ,nd c.sh equivrlents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank and also call accounts'

l) Compsrrtive figures

Un 
"." 

'n"""a*ay tmparative figures for the previous financial year have been amended or

reconfigul'ed to conform to the required changes in presentation'

m) Subsequent events

The University adjusts the financial statement for events after the reporting date together with the

appropriate disclosures. The University adjusts the amount recognised in its financial statement to

reiteci tne oalusting events after rcporting date. Some examples of adjusting events include:

i) Settlement after the reporting date ofa courl case'

ii) The receipt of information after reporting date indicating that an asset was imPaired at the

reporting date.

iii) Determination after reporting date ofthe cost ofan asset purchased befole reporting date.

iv) Discovery offraud or e[ors thal show that the financial statements were inconect.

n) Biologicrl Asset

The university biological assets are measured on initial recognition and at each reporting date at their

fair value less costs to sell, excePt for the case whele the fail value cannot be measured reliably.

The university recognises a biological asset or agricultural produce when and only when:

o The University controls the asset as a result of Pasl events.

. lt is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the

University.
o The fair value or cost ofthe asset can be measured reliably.

ln agricultural activity, control may be evidenced by legal ownership of canle and the branding or

otherwise marking of the cattle on acquisition, birth or weaning. The future b€nefits are normally

assessed by measuring the significant physical attributes. A biological asset is measurcd on initial

recognition and at the end of each reporting period at its fair value less costs to sell. Cost may

sometimes approximate fair value, Particularly when:

. Little biological transformation has taken place since initial cost incurrence .

. The impact of the biological transformation on price is not expected to be material'

Ifan active market does not exist, the University uses one or more ofthe following when available in

determining fair value:

a The most recent market transaction price, provided that there has not been a significant

change in economic circumstanc€s b€tween the date of that transaction and the end of the

reporting period.

o Market prices for similar assets with adjustment to reflect differcnces.

a Sector benchmark such as the value of an orchard expressed per export tray, bushel or

hectare and the value of canle expressed per ki logram of meat.
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5, Significant Judgments and Sources of Estimation Unc€rtointy
The preparation ofthe Univercity's financial statements in conformity with IPSAS requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could resull in outcomes that require a
material adjustment to the carrying amount ofthe asset or liability affected in future periods.

Esfimales and assumptions
The key assumptions conceming the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significaat risk ofcausing a material adjustmenl to the carrying amouns of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are described below. The University based its
assumptions and estimates on pfiameters available when the consolidated financial statements were
prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change
due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control ofthe University. Such changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Uselul lives and residual values

The useful lives and residual values of assets are assessed using the following indicators to inform
potential future use and value from disposal:

o The condition ofthe asset based on the assessment ofexperts employed by the University.
. The nature ofthe asset, its susceptibility, adaptability to changes in technolory and processes.
o The nature of the processes in which the asset is deployed.
o Availability offunding to replace the asset.

. Changes in the market in relation lo the asset.

The following are the estimated useful lives ofthe various assets:

Details

Buildings

Fumiture & Fittings

Computers

Motor Vehicles

Machinery & Equipment

Biological Asset

Work in Progress

Land

Rate ofdepreciation
404

l0o/o

20%

20o/o

't0%

Not depreciated

Not depreciated

Not deprecialed

Life
25 years

l0 years

5 years

5 years

l0 years

It is the policy of the University to charge full year's depreciation on lhe year of purchase and nil
depreciation on the year of disposal. Depreciation is done on Reducing Balance Method. when
revaluation is done at the end ofthe financialyear, no depreciation is charged for the year.

Pmvisions
Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available.
Provisions are measured at the management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the reponing date and are discounted to present value where the effect is material

t5
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

6. Transfers from GOK

a) Grants in Aid:

trsll KShr

Monthly Recurrent Crant

Fude for CBA 20l7l2l
Totsl

b) Transfers from Ministries, Departments and Agencies

738,783,422 692,922,609

2s2l4,t3l
7 r 8,136,740

KShs KShs

738,183,422

KShs KShsKShs

Mlnlrtry of
Educedon ?387lFl..4n lllB&],(Xl Ell0r56'.(B l'01&136rfi

181,800 358,200
7

E

DONATIOI{S ANI' GITTS

Donations and Cifts

Thh rclrt€t to dordim! by well.wilhers in support of
0rc gndurdon carmony

fl]INON ANI' OTETR TEES

Tuition Fees

ID/RcglffionFecs
Examination Fees

Matorlal Dcwlopncn Fecs

Laboratory Workshop Materials Fees

Medlcsl Fles
Computer Fees

Llbry PGos

Activity Fees

Fiold TrlpdAttschmert Fccs

Clinical Transport-Field

McdtcrlOc&htp
Examinations Remarking

Applicodon Ftcr
Accommodation fee

208,75 t ,038

9,18r,020

60,94s,534

12226200
13,868,000

39.36E,563

19,493,r 30

13,865,"20

13,116,420

53,605,E20

l,663,000

716,000

799,000

9,151,900

246,021,267

8,99E,67

57,633,925

13,663,s00

15,843,300

43,609,500

2l,383,550

12,839,700

12,791,500

55,9$,n2
I,047,000

t,500,000

1.000

84r,105

10,320,31s

r, rl i

tt,

rl
I

I

l(
ri,, I

( l,r

r,,,i I trr llr( rlr( (rlr. Ilrrt,Lr llrL \r I

ll,r,,l

t6
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9

Student Modical Bxamination Fee

SU&TOTAL

OTHER INCOMES
s) Other lncome.s

Surcharges and Fines

Printing and Photocopy

Library Fines

Transpon Charges

Miscellaneous lncome

Hospital Inoome

Hire of Equipment

Food Science Sales

Chemistry sale of Delergent lncome

Gain on rcvaluation:

Rental lncome-Safaricom Mast

Farm Sales -Dairy Farm

Farm Sales-Beef

Farm Salcs -Food Crops

Farm Sales -Grass

Agricultue Dept Income-Demo farm

Graduation Fees

Hirc of Academic Attir€
Students P.A.Y.E Sales

Staff Cafeteria Sales

Conference Facilities

Pay in Lieu of Notice

Admin ChargeTuition Refund

IGU Driving School

SUB-TOTAL

b) lncome for Deposits tnd Call Accounts

Intercst on Deposits

The University bank accounts are special currenl
accounts because lhey stilleam interest similar to savings
accounts.

TOTAL OTrpR TNCOMES

102,000

457,452,845

4,515.000

506,963,r0r

|,239.475

l84,6ls
6,287

52,422

3,666,486

t62,480

4,440

260,000

t53, t54

6,600

1,386,360

258,865

22,580

6,800,900

596,650

4,985,825

6,33 r,857

2,000

1,424,374

27,545,370

710,641

223,444

I l,t8l
u9333

t,044,0s9

89,429

25,830

2,400

23,880

3,55314s

15,400

29,t75
4,929,900

ls9r00
4,820,095

8,472,087

264,493

t,1552?2

t,436,222

27,215291

97.1385 1J62,981

2E,tE9,677 29,008.351

IO OPERATIONALEXPENSES

17
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r) Pcnonnol Emolumcnts

Basic Salary

House Allowancc

Bus fare Allowance

Use of own Cq Allowance

Non Practice Allowance

tlntertairunent Allowance

Responsibility Allowance

Extr eous Allowance

Leave Allowance

Passage and Baggage

Risk Allowance

Domestic Work Allowarrcc

Book Allowance

Water and Electricity Allowance

Telephone Allowance

VC Commuter Allowanc€

Security Allowance

Aoting Allowance

Casual Wages

Part-Time Teaching

Studenls' Work Study Programme

Crrstuity

Pension -Employer's Contribution

Other Personnel Allowance

Senlement Allowance

SUBT(}TAL

b) MrltrlGn.nce Colts
Marimba Centre Maintenance

MaintenEncc of Plutt and Mmhinery

Mainlenance of Fumitue and Fittings

Mainterunce of Builditgs
Maintenance of Waler and Sewerage

Maintcnmce or Roads

Maintenance ofGrounds

Motor vehicle Repair snd Maintenanc€

Maintenance of Computers

Computer Softwar€ Maintenance

SU&TOTAL

419,587 ,7 48

t6r,,663,791

\4,379,721

45,627,046

t.740,000

r0,884,304

t7,079,010

6,850,902

2.148,230

25,s88

173,000

l,455,000

420,000

5t0,000

4,886,669

600,000

780.000

2,207,327

36,476,446

t55,2t4,325

27 5,290

27,469,058

6l,343,I 57

1.120,500
,r? ro,

97&1,().405

l ,4 19,85 5

I,839,210

62,587

8,46E,553

2,9t2,527

I16,812

229,t99

4,547,523

2.510,40'l

3,474,846

25,581,5r9

411,331,881

167,486,727

15,527,008

4t,210,749

t,440,000

9,960,726

t6.779,499

6,457,857

2,288,370

10t,840

168.000

1,350,000

420,000

480,000

4,824,971

600,000

720.000

|,542,567

30,089,239

| 59,7E4,614

t28.480

30,E 18,404

62,t73,664

663,297

966J47J93

|,414,220

749,303

7 48.577

l0,l16,245
I,288.355

454,635

3,590,788

4,525,842

5,065,480

1,512,528

29,463,973

r8
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c) Council Expenses

Council Sitting Allowance

Council Subsistence

Council Monthly Honoraria

Council Fare

Council Mileage

Council Chairman Telephone

Council Air Travel

Other Council Expenses

SUETOTAL

d) Other Operational Expenses

AdvertisinS & Publicity

Audit Fees

Bank Charges -O.D. lntercst, Lcdger Fee

Chancellor Expenses

Conferences and Seminars

Directorate of Quality Assurance

Electricity

Security Services

Foreign Travel

Funeral Expenses

Cenerator Expenses

HIV AIDS Prevention

Insurance

Intemet

ISO Expenses

Legal Fee

Library Expenses

Medical Expenses -ln Patient

Medical Expenses -Out Patient

Medical Supplies

Motor Vehicle Fuel

Perlbrmance Contracii ng

Postal and Telegram

Public Celebrations

Publishing Printing and Photography

Renl and Rates

5,100,000

5,96t ,17 6

957,419

69,000

2,17924t
59,839

425220

374,970

15,426,865

6,7,10,000

6,133,646

960,000

I I 1.000

1.955.321

60,000

789,860

I,429,390

$379Afi

25,842,t50

7, r67,856

197,260

53,290

t,572,952

2 t3.4 t0

10,319,776

5,458.969

7,554,291

77,894

9,800

3t,000

14,378,921

5,761,938

870,000

1,081,465

t.200,000

2,440,s17

26,300

t3,157,t76
2l ,155,36 r

t,385,712

87,450

943,733

I03,700

43,153,826

5,766,796

I,t20,653

6,049,840

3,47t,628

754,07 t

8,177,0 t5

5.301,729

8,4089M
13,200

l0'1,024

62,200

5,000

20,440.282

6243,ts1
|,217 .860

945,882

1,200,000

\472,e0
66,300

1t,732,604

22,92s,799

1,519,626

646.200

2,399,596

l9



Meru Uni versity of Science and Technology
Annual Report and Financial Slatements
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Sanitalion

Show Expenses

Unifurn and Clothing

Dental Optical ExPenses

Subscriptiot ExPenses

Loss on disposal

Industrial Tlaining Fee

Dairy Production ExPenses

FErm Crops InpuB

Farming/Production Costs

Covid-19 Expstscs

Bad and Doubtful Debt

Corporatiot Tax

SUB.TOTAL

DEPRECIATION and AMORTIZATION

DEPRECIATION
Buildings

Fumiturt & Fittingr

Motor Vehicles

Computerg

Machinery

ST'BTOITAL

AMORTIZATION
ERP

SUBT(}TAL
The University conducted a revaluation ofall the assets

to determine the marke value ofthe assets as at 30 June

2023. Consequently, no depreciation was charged during
the year.

TOIAL OPERATIOIYAL EX}ENSES

ACADEITflCCOSTS
Extemal Training - Students

Shtdent Admission EJpeascs

Programme Inspection Expenses

Travel and Accommodetion Acadernic

Field Trips

Graduation ExFnscs

r86,449,783

5,822,372

t 60,699,133

65.09t.62',7

13,608,990

12,023,200

n,362,279

38,941,688

t4t,ut1,1u

2,972,853

144,000,637

1r05,59E574 t3t92n3v

1t,218,77t

497 ,047

999,3E7

4,851,930

t,830,527

699,000

I19,500

2,955,62s

573,E65

3,I t 7,660

146,000

8,335,951

370,462

r30,200

709.000

5,n4,t29
1,798,461

6,904,989

t4,694,814

1.043,060

490.,978

4,',t93,213

2,390,133

3,224,576

230,97
1,768,458

593,305

94,000

2,462,210

I,001,558

6315,358

e

ll
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Teaching Practice

lndustrial Attachment

University Research Expenses

Stationery Academic

Student Exarninations

Teaching Materials

Telephone Academic

Training -Academic Staff
Entertainment Academic

Curriculum Developmeot Expenses

SU&TOTAL

ADMINISTRATION COSTS

Travelling and Accommod*ion Admin

Telephone Admin

Entertainment Admin

Stationery Admin

Computer Expenses Admin

Training -Non-Teaching Staff

SU&TOTAL

STUDENTWELFARE
Student Hostels Expenses

Cooking Fuel

Studenl Recreation Activities
Fmdstuffs

Crockery & Kitchen Equipment

Enterlainment Student Welfarc

Games and Sports

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Financial lnstitutlon
a) Bank deposits

BANK A"/C (NBK) Main
Bank A/C (NBK) Farm

Bank A/C (NBK) Pmject

Bank A/C (KCB) I"'ees Collection

Bank A/C (KCB) Operalions

| 86,200

8.660.92s

s,350,780

2,184,533

7,40t,872

t4,652,0m

t35,t37

873,980

2,046,637

1E8.000

s6,707 325

1,664,520

9,656,064

t,499,707

10,172,482

4,892,259

l10,806

5,000

694,769

310,000

38,9?8,733

t2

l3

t4

12pM277
92,000

2,238,523

12,104,837

403,830

r,706,000

29,449A67

15.000

607260

6,337 s02
13,391,170

r 86,195

797,484

2022t23

KSHS

10,157,581

t,610,592

28,469,1s3

459,979

6,482,283

12,338,406

8 t .500

2,131,028

13p62,406

428,964

3,492,644

32',1:l{'9tt8

t,200

638,451

6,497,986

10,323,093

r08,126

248,465

202V22

KSHS

14.245.307

4,890,931

10,950,602

3,548,995

2,315,031

2tJ3{,611 11,,8t132t

2l
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Bank Equity-Fee collection account

EquityopcrationsA\c
Equity-US Dollar A\c

Bsnk CG,OP Bulk- Fee Collection A'lc

SUB TOTAL

l5

CASH AND BANK BALANCES PCT BANK

Equrty

Co-op

NBK
KCB

SUBTOITAL
PREPAYMENTS

Rent DspoliB
Electricity Deposits

Prepoid lnsurance

Security on motor vehicle fuel

SUBTOTTAL

16 RECEIVABLTS TROM EXCHANGE
TRANSACflONS
Staff Deblors

StudcnB DGbtors

Imprest

Tnde Debtors

Withholding Tax

Pension Voluntary
SUB TOTAL

I7 RI,CEIVABLES FROM NON EXCHANGE
TRANSACTIONS

GoK Reccivablc
SUB TOTAL

-The monthly capiadon from lhc Exchcqucr is ordinarily rcceived

within the month, Hovevar, whcn th€ capitrtion is not receivcd within
th€ month, th8n, it is recognized as a rcceivable. Similsrly,
dcvclopment funds fur I particrrhr ycar Itc rcceived within thc ycar.

9,9r6,033

18,752,761

13,166

5,630,122

81,491,670

28,68r,960

5,630,l2Z

40,237,326

6,942,262

E1.491,670

2,791250
7 t 6.000

10,068,156

r,329,000

t4,904,406

793.667

t24,426367

394.200

t2t,148

r25,73s,982

40,983,041

40,9E3,04r

19,935.807

77,983,427

34,(X5,2t4

167,9 t 5,314

97,919,234

34,045,214

30,086,840

5,864,026

l67pr53l4

2,791,250
716,000

8,226,489

1.329,000

tr,wzJtg

74]|.620

I14,696,875

560.100

170,000

6,000

I t 6,174,595

-The lhvclopm€nt fun ds fot tp FY 2n2fi3 arnounting to l$hs.
409t3,041 wcrc tcst?d 8s rccrivablcs becarse they wcre rcccived on
4th July 2023 .
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r8
E

INVENT'ORY

Contnl Storc 4291293 4,lt8,1sl

Kttchcn Stor!

I
The invatory is raluod Et cost uld lssuod on first in fiIst out bosb.
Although tluc wco rogular stocl tskos during the year, an urnual
stock hke was done on 30 June 2023 to daerminc dre closlng stoclc

699,872 I,t66,417
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Notes to the Financial St|temenls Continued...

19. Property, Plant and Equipment

NATE
Cost/Valuation 30.6.202 I

Ad&ioc Ptrct s
Transfer of W-l-P

odvdrrdh30.62m2
Additions
Transfcr of W-l-P

Less Provision for Dcprtc.
Qo.6.n)
Less opcning Revaluation
gain(loss)

Revaluation Gairy'( Loss)

Co.afy.tuda !c620ul

Plovkho for Dcp.cc. (305.21)

Depreciation

Pnovision for Dcprcc. (30f.72)
Deprcciation

Piorddo. for D.p.c. (!GC23)

N.t Bs& Vd.c
NBv As at 30.06.2021

NBv As d 30.062022

NBV As rt 30.06.2023

r0&29,0o 1,6272n,6n

10t,292,000

{t4,6t.5,521
2,10t ,97 6,193

a5,037,917

GA
108292,0@

108192,000

2,391,708,000

L500,000r0c

10E,292,000

108rv2,000

2500.fi)0,000

1%
1,62't,290,672

r,67693t276
94.481,317

r:r71Ar9593

359,946290
65,09t,627

425,O379t7

| ,267 ,344,3E2

r20u52,755
1,77r,419,593

1*
74t,3't 1,633

180,,181921

9&t53J55
144,476,44'l

(47,r,685,521)

59E,644,4E1

59t 644,4t I

59&64,1,,1t1

748,371,633

92E,853,555

59t,644,4t1

r}?r
134,337,056

t,75\w

134G9,t96
13,30E,320

149,398,216

50,71&395

95,527,E10

(34.591,210)
(),9366m

37,t09,M
13.608.990

50,7r &395

97.22'1.650

rsJ7r,5or
50,936,600

fr%
54,38r'.,927

\42&4m

l6.,rtSet
3,46t,680

@,zEO,077

37,t79,67

15371,549

47 .431,661

62,rcrrr0

26,516,788

I t.362.279

37,t79,67

27,868,139

t8,932329

623033r0

2UY.
60, t t6,000

60,t 16,000

1,884,728

68.0@,728

24,04tr,,4W

7,495p30

4'1,754,970

ssrs0,0oo

t2,023200
12.023.200

24,W,M

48.092,800

36069,600

55,250,000

tw
3E3,126,r45

6Jsq37

3r9Jr6882
23,674,676

413,091,558

t3t337371

251,554,8E2

( r26,r 81,552)

13593J30

99J,95,ffi
38,941,6E8

t38337371

283,730,459

zst,ut950E
135J73J30

K',
3,1r 5,91t,433

190,95196t

3il6'f,o,4@
192,812,E5 r

3,499,683,253

676,019,r 54

L763,824,02t
2,420,603,186

\ru,,,z12r1

5v99t370
14t,o27,784

676,01qr54

2,580,927,064

2,630,E51248

5,ra4,421'214

3,152.01l 1.029.460 36,459'29E 13,19.302 59.8'10.071

All classes ofassets were revalued as at the end ofthe period (10'i June 202i). -l-herefore. depreciation $as not charged tbr the period
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Notes to the Financial Statemcnts Continued...

COST

Net Book Value as at 30.06.2021

Addilional Calf

Changes in fair value

Net Book Value as at 30.06.2022

Additions

Changes in fair value

Net Book Value as at J0.06.2023

Dalry
Csttle

KShs

280,000

240,000

520.000

96s,000

t,485.000

(81 l,000)

674,000

Boof
Cetde

Tot l

KShs

280,000

20.000

240000

540,000

1,260,000

l,800,000

(699,000)

I,l0l,000

KShs

20,000

20,000

295,000

3 t 5,000

I t2,000

427,000

RATE

Cosl as at 30.6.2021
Additions

Cost as at 30.6.2022

Additions
Cost as at 30.6.2023

[,ess: Provision for Deprec. (30.6.22)

Add: Revaluation Surplus

Revelued Value as it 30.6.2023

Provision for Deprec. (30.6.21)
Depreciation Expense

Pmvision for Deprcc. (30.6.22)

Depreciation Expense

Provision for Deprec. (30.6.23)

Net Book Value
NBV As at 30.06.2021

NBV As at 30.06.2022

NBV As at 30.06.2023

ERP

l0o/o

29,s19A92
209,038

29,728,530
407,972

30,136,502

23.306,t25
6,830,377

19,244,823

26,075A00

20,333,272

2,912,8s3

23,306,t25

9,t86,220
6A22Aos

26,07s200

lnlangible asset is [:nterprise Resource Planning svstcn] krro\\'n a-s Microsoli Narisiun. Tlrc srstenr uas
contrnissioned in the [:inancitrl Year 201.1, 15. lt is occasionalll, upgraded bv addinq nuv icaturcs to
acc()mnrodatc tuture changcs. l-he sofluare rras revalued on -.i0,r,June 202i.
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22 TR.ADEANI'OTHENPAYABLES
CDF Account

Clstic Echinococcosis Project'Prof Magambo -

Dr. Eunice Marete -Research Project

Dt. Joshua Arlmi NACOSTI
HE[-B Control Account

lnsurrrce Claim Refiuds
MUST Alumni Association

MUST Pension Schcme

P,A.Y. E

Quality Assunnc(QuE) Fees

Quality Audit Fees

Accrcditation (Rcgulating Body) Fees

Students lndexing by Regulator Fees

Teaching Pnctice fecs

Research Administration Fund

Retention Mon€y for Project3

SAMU SubscriPtions

Sundry Ctedltcs
NBK Recurrent Unidentifi ed deposits

NBK Feos Collection A"/c Unidentified Deposits

NBK Project A,/C Unidentified Deposits

Equlty Fe€s A/c Unidefltiffed DePosits

KCB Fees Coll Unidentified Deposits

Coop Fccs Coll Unidcittified Dcpcaits

NBK Main Unidentified DePosits

Equity Opcratlons A,/c Unidcntified Depoais

KCB Opemtional Unidentified
VAT on Purcheos
Withholding Ta.x

MEIWA Projcct

CNEAT Research Project

Research Punds

Payroll Payables

Crowdhrdcipotory Sensing Project

Gratuity OwinS

EA WHO Rcscarch Ccnbo
Epivot Project

KCSAP Rgcarch Pmjec{-Mrinde
KCSAP Camel Meat- Dr Arimi
Intematioml Found. For Sci€ecilia Wanjau

Kenya National Inov. Agency - Dr Mwiti
KCSAP Rescarch - Dr Jane Rmo
Team 2019 VLIR-OUS Project

Miraa Rcscorch Centrc
Students Fees Prepayment

6.494,516
4,350,1 r 5

458.650

2,500

2,767,000
130,001

12,836,007

251,29t

493,s00
38,104,064

3,E32,950
428,150

20,1I1,000
I , t 51,938

22,500,733
758.567

r38,648,408
43,t72

273,181
|,'t69,04',7

t,368,351
2,lL2,178
2,611,568

3 15.125

45,000
482,649

t67 ,709

84E,580

2.026,282

32,678,954
23,t56,144

558,79s

42,674,017

146,740

s22,t89
744,n7
165,980

2t5,240
800,000

4,839,270
3E,635

458.650

2,500
431,900

130,001

t2,060,027
25t,29t
279,582

2,572,000
30,828,864

3,13s,550
1.867,750

10,552,000
I .l 5l ,938

22,50,.,733
135,139

128,340,r64
43,172

386,530
t.t46,547
t,056,928
2,368,793

2,557,465
315,125

I E,000

163.249

210,604

3 13.386

84E,580

4,213,628

24A44,tEE
35.567

3,068,1r r

36,966,025

19,518,94E

4,481,361

893,775
262,000
275,2N
800,000

t84,250
184,700

2,162,556
56,s35,693

2,16r.,8U2

67,256,513
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NRF Camel Milk- Dr Arimi
Epivot Water Project

KUDHEIHA Subscriptions
SCISWA
ASHESl-Employeablity Grant-Dr Eunice Marete
SUB TOTAL

23 PROVISIONS
Provision for Part-time
Provision for Bad & Doubtful Debts

The pan-time for January-April 2023 and 50% of
the part-time for September -December 2022 had
not been paid by 30th June 2023.

ST]B TOTAI,

24 CAPITAL
Capital B/F
Additional Capital during the year

Add: Donation-NRF Wl"lO EA Equip't

Capitel C/F

23 REVENUE RESERVE
Revenue Reserve B/F

Add Cancellation of long outstanding creditor.
Surplus lbr the Year

Revenue Reseryes C/F
* Cancellation of long outstanding creditor: this is
explained under the Statement ofChanges in Net
Assets

26 Revaluatior Surplus
Revaluation-Computers B/F
Add: Revaluation June 2023

Net Revaluation Surplus (Computers)

Revaluation-Motor Vehicles B/F
Additional Revaluation
Net Revaluation Surplus (Motor-Vehicle)

Revaluation Surplus-Equipment
Less: Loss on Revaluation-Equip
Net Revaluation Surplus (Equip)

93,313,655

8,335,951

52,459,250

101,649,606 52.459.250

1,462,29t

499,486

437,829,694

3,266,625,812
I,983,041

3J78,608,853
r8,400,750

3i397,009,603

(824,7 64,246)
24,999,678

(88,482,234)

(E86r{6,803)

47 ,43 t,66t
47,431,661

47.754,970
47,754,970

t26,I8t,552
( 126,181,s52)

3.397.010
8,098,676

7t,794
4,000

269,629
394,87r,523

2,961,355,812
300,000,000

3,26rJ55.8r2
5,270,000

3166,625,E12

(610,707 .2831

( 1s4,056,964)

(824,764246)

7

7

,029,460

,029,460

2,882,164
33,5'77.t34
36,459,298

13,199,302

t3,199,302

Revalualion Surplus- Fumiture
Less: Loss on Revaluation-Fum

?7

34.59t.2r0
3,152,0 n
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Nst Rcwhrador Surplts Fwtt)
Revaluation SurPlus-Building

Rernluulon Surplw-Lmd
Revaluation Surplts-ERP Software

Rcvrlurtl,Dtr Slt?los C/F

21. Note to Cashflow Ststement

Rccclptr

Transfen from olher governments entities

Gnnt in Ald

Cash Received as Crant in Aid

Cosh received ss Tultion and other Fees

Tlrftior md ohtc Fces

Add Opening Student Debtors

LGs3 Closlng Stdcnt DchoB

Less Opening Deferred lncome

Add Closlng Dcftnod Income

c Cssh recelved as Donations ond Gifts

Cash recelved as Sale of goods

Other incomc

Add Opening Sundry Debtors (Note 16 less student
debtors)
Less Clostltg $ndry Dcbtors (Note 16 less student
&btors)
Add Opening Prepayments

Lcse Closl4 PlcpoymcnB

Less Gain on revaluation of Biological Asset

Crsh rrcclv:d .t Intar6t on Dcpollts

6

(34,5e1rr0)
94,481,311

2,391,708,000
19,744,823

2,439,848,009

738,783,422

738,783,422

457,452,845

I 14,696,875

(t24,426,367)

n,2$,29t
|,477,720

(1,309,61s)

t3,062,739

(14,904,406)

3,152,01l

59!4007t

7t8,r36,740

718,t36,740

b

447,723,35J 448J83,1J7

181.800 358,200

506,963,10t

l I 1,517,307

(l14,696,87s)

(55,400,396)

23541,7t0

27,545,370

|,98t,522

(tA77,720)

23,525,543

(13,062,739)

(260,000)

3&2sr976

d

e

28
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f Crsh psld for Use of Boods end servlc€s

Expenses ( Total expenses less Personnel
emolument, loss on disposal and Depreciation)
Add Opening Trade and other payables from
exchange hanssctions(Note 2l less gratuity and
other payroll psyablesr)
Less Closing Trade and other payables tiom
exchange ransaclions(Note 2 | less gratuity and
other payroll payables)
Less Cancellation of long outshnding seditorfi
Less Opening Invenlory

Add Closing lnventory

Less Closing Provision for bad and doubtful debt

*Other Payroll payables incude: PAYE, Payroll
payables, KUDHEIHA and SCISWA

'* Cancellation of long outstanding creditor: this is
explained under the statement ofchanges in net
Assets

(371,999,539) (357,514,5s6)

C(D Cash paid to Employee

Personnel Emolument

Add Opening Payroll payables(note g(ii))

Less Closing Payroll payables

Add Opening Provisions for Par-ttime

Less Closing Provisions for Paminre

g(lD Details on Payroll payables

P.A.Y. E

Payroll Payables

KUDIIEIIIA Subscriptions

SCISWA

Cratuity Owing

318,823,706

357,s14556

(24,994,618\

( 14,066,109)

t3,37t,596

(8.3rs,95 l )

270J0E,5E2

978,140,406

37,356967

(65,830,156)

s2,4s92s0

(93,3 r 3,655)

908,812,813

23,t56,144

42.674,012

65,&10,156

280,524,848

4t4,711,277

( 11,84s,0s6)

14,066,109

339942,622

966J47,393

36,669,535

(37,356,967)

30,686,724

(s2,459,250)

943,887,43S

2'.t9,582

35,567

7t,794

4,000

36,966,025

37356,968

h Council Expenscs

29
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I GOr Grut rllmtrd to Flnrncc

Non orchrngo

Glh n*at{rou Oo& DnnloPcm Grdrt 71,000,000 300,000,000

28. Releted Pcrty Disclo8ur€

Council
The Council members, except the Vice Chancellor, were paid sitting allowances, per diem, mileage, and

air fare, and for Chairman- Director's fee and telephone allowance. The University also paid for their

medical insurance cover. The University paid the Council members a total of KShs 15'426'865 in form of

allowances. None of the Council members was advanced a loan by the University during the Financial

year. None ofthe Council members had other dealings with the University other than as a Council member.

Univcrsity Mrnagement Bolrd Members

The total arnount paid to the University Management Board members in terms of salaries and allowances

was KShs. 46 million. None ofthe University Board members was advanced a loan by the University during

the Financial Year. None of the University Management Board memben had other dealings with the

University other than as an employee ofthe University

Govcrnment
The Govemment of Kenya is the largest single sponsor of the University' During the year, the

University received KShs. 1,018,135,7,0 from the Govemment for Recurrent and Capital exp€nditue.

The Government is responsible for the appointment ofthe Council Members.

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There was no contingent liability worth reporting during the year
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30. OPERATING LEASES
The University has two operating leases:

i. Hart Towers
Meru Town Campus is housed in Hart Towers. Hart Towers is a five storeyed building located in
Meru Town centre. The University occupies 2"d, 3'd and 46 floors ofthe building. The lease is for six
years with effect from the year 2018. The lease will expire on 3 I December 2023.

ii. Merimba Farm
On May lo, 2014, the University entered into a fifteen years' lease agreement with the Minisfy of
Agriculture, Livestock and Fisheries for the lease of Marimba Farm. Marimba Farm is the property
of Agricultural Development Corporation which is under the Ministry ofAgriculture, Livestock and

Fisheries. The lease agreement states that University will pay KShs. 1,400,000 per annum for the
first three years. After three years, the rent will be reviewed upwards. The lease agreement also
provides that the fifteen-year contract is divided into three terms and each party can terminate the
contract aner every five-year term.

31. Events after the reporting period
No event, either adjusting or non-adjusting has been reported afler the balance sheet date.

32. Ultimrte rnd Holding Entity
MUST is a Semi-Autonomous Govemment Agency under the Ministry of Education. Its ultimare
parent is the Govemment of Kenya.

33. Currency
The financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings (KShs). The figures are rounded up to the
nearest shilling. For the Bank Account denominated in USA Dollar, the balance was converted into
Kenyan Shilling using conversion rate of 140.52 per Dollar as at 306June2023.

3l



Meru University of Science end Technologt
Annuel Report and Financial Strtements

For the Year ended June 30, 2023

APPENDIX I: PROGRESS ON FOLLOW UP Or AUDITOR RECOMMENDATIONS

Foc!l
Point
penpn

Stetus
Time.
fremeMaDrgcment comments

rlrudit

Rcferrnce
No. on the
ertcrnal

lssuc / Obscrvrtions fmm Auditor

Resolved

problems. These include:

i. The inflexible nature of the University operations' For

instanc€, the tuition fees cunently being paid by

government-sponsored sflrdents have not been revised for

the last twenty yea$. Over 90% of our students are

goverff nent-sponsored students.

ii. The transfers from the government have not been increasing

year after year despite the inoease in the number of students

and the depreciation of the Kenya shilling as a result of
inflation. Although the number of students is about 9000, we

still receive the same amount that we used to receive when

the number was 6,ur0,
iii. Self-sponsored students pal 'liehtly more than other

students. However, in the last four years, 'l' number ofself-

sponsored students has continued to decline lu the extent

that only a handful of programs get enough self-soons"'-d
students.

iv. The semi-variable nalure ofexpenses. Most ofthe expen' 's

cannot be adjusted downwards in the short run. For instance,

personnel emolument can only keep on going up due to the

fixed annual increments. In the long run, it can go down

though rctrenchments, retirements, dismissals, aad so on.

The Universiry has addrcssed the issues as follows:

The Universiry has established the causes of the financial

Finance
Officer

l. Mrteri.l
Unccrlrinty
on
Sustrinrbility
of Services

The statement of financial performance for the

yf2u rcflects Kshs.I,254,466,392 and

Kshs.1,408,523,355 with respect to total revenue

and total expenses rcsp€ctively resulting in a

deficit of Kshs.154,056,964 (202012021:

Kshs.199,240,072). The deficit rtsulted in an

increase in an accumulated deficit fiom

Kshs.670,707,283 as of 30th June 2021 to an

accumulated deficit of Kshs.824,764,247 as of
30th June 2022. Further, the current liabilities of
Kshs.447,330,773 exceeded the curent assets of
Kshs.3l 1,218,757 r€sulting in negative working

capital of Kshs.l36,112,016. The Univemity is

therefore technically insolvent. However, the

financial statements have been prepared on a

going concem basis on the assumption of
continued financial support from the Govemment

and its crcditors. In these circumslances, the

University is likely to face financial challenges

and might find it difficult to sustain its services.
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i. The tuition fee paid by govemment-sponsored students is
too little. Meru University, together with other public
universities as a sub.sector, has petitioned the government
to approve the revision oftuition fees.

ii. For the last few years, the transfers from the govemmert
have been fixed at KShs.718 million. The University has

prcsented a request for KShs. 1.062 billion as transfers
from the government for the financial year 2023124. We
hope that the new funding formula will favour our
Univenity.

iii. Aggressive marketing of the University in order to attract
module two students.

Ways to Prevent R€currence

i. Increase lnternrlly Gen€rrted Revenuc.--The University
will venture into other sources of revenue generation. Other
than govemment grants and fees from students, the
University will explore other income-generating activities.
The University will also focus on research, innovation, and
commercialization ofthe innovations as a source ofrevenue
and consultancy.

ii. Menaging Costs-The University is in the proccss of
instituting various cost management strategies in a bid to
ensure that wastages are eliminated and efficiency is
increased. We are embracing innovation and automation in
our operations. Morc add-on modules are being implemented
on our ERP. Further, we are benchmarking with other
universities and other organizalions in order to adopl the best
practices in oul op€rations. All decisions in the University are
made prudently. When making decisions, the financial
implications of the decisions must b€ considered. We are
currently mnsolidating what we already have instead of
starting new projects, departments, or faculties. Some roles
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a- The University has initiated the proc€ss of change of
name which is expeaed to be completed by 30 June

2023.

b. The issue is partially resolved because the process of
revaluation of land is done, but the proc€ss of change

of name is at an advanced stage.

c. The University has initiated the process of change of
name. We have made an application for a change of
name at the Meru Land Registry' The Land's office has

advised us to seek approval fiom the National Lands

Commission (NLC) first. We have written to the NLC
and we expect the process to be complele before

3l December 2023.

Finance
Officer

Ongoing

)
Unsupported
Propcrty,
Phtrt, rnd
Equlpmeot -
l,rnd
Records

The statement of financial position refleas a

balance of Kshs. 2,630,851,248 in respect of
property, plant, and equipment. However, as

previously rcported, and as disclosed in Note 18

to the financial stalements, the balance includes

land with a value of Kshs. 108,292,000 which is

based on a valuation done in 2009 over thirteen

(13) years ago. In addition, the land ownership

documents provided for audit indicate that one

parcel ofland is registered under Meru Univenity
College of Science and Technology while the

other parcel is in the name of Meru College of
Technology.

3.

Umupported
Rcnt end
Rrtcs
Expcnditure

The statement of financial performance reflects

an amount of Kshs. 1,319,292,354 in respect to
operational exp€nses as disclosed in Note l0 to
the financial statements, which includes Kshs.

160,699,133 incurred on other operaling
expenses. This further includes Kshs. 14,378,921

in respecl to rent and rates for Meru Univenity
Campus localed in Meru town. The lease

agreement required the Univesity to pay a
monthly rent ofKshs. 930,917 for the initial two
(2) years and Kshs. I ,024,008 for the next two (2)
yeals and Kshs. 1,126,385 for the final
yeat. However, as iously rcported, no

has been lhe (Hafi T )The Un verslty occupylng preml ses owers

FY 20 I J 4 The fac I ty strategr cal placed at the he3fi
S lnce I s v
of Meru Town (CBD). At that time, (FY 2013/14) no other

facility was available or had the same exclusivity hence the

rcason why the University settled on it. In fact' the univenity
had to book the facility while it was still under construction.

Nazarene University had taken one wing while we took the other

wing. KEMU and Mt. Kenya universities were also interested in

the facility.

The University rclied on Section 103(2) of the Public

Procurement and Asset Disposal Act, 2015 states that'7
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evidence was provided to confirm that the
identification of these offices was subjected to
procurement procedures. In the circumstances,
the accuracy and completeness ofthe expenditure
amount ofKshs. 14,378,921 in resF,ect to rent and
rates could not be confirmed.

procuring en iA m6y use direct procurement f any of the
fo I I ow ing are s at i sfi ed " -(i) the goods, works, or services are available only from a

particular supplier or contractor, or a particular supplier
or contractor has exclusive rights in respect ofthe goods,
works or services and no reasonable altemative or
substitute exists;

( ii) for the acquiring of goods, works, or services provided by
a public entity provided that the acquisition price is fair and
reasonable and compares well with known prices ofgoods,
works, or sewices in the circumstances.

The Univenity has been a tenant since FY 2013/2014. The
acquisition price was fair and reasonable and compared well
with known prices of goods, works, or services in the
circumstances at that time. In the year 2015, a valuation of the
rent payable was done by a govemment valuer, and the market
rate was determined as KShs. 391,000 per month or KShs.
1,173,000 per quaner as per the valuation report. The amount of
rcnt paid by the Univenity is within the rare determined by the
govemment valuer in the year 2015.

The University renews the contract after the expiry of the lease
period. The curent contract cannot be terminated without
serious legal consequences. The University will continue with
the same lease until it expires in FY 2023124.

Wrys to Prcvcnt Recurretrce

The univemity has been a tenant of Hart Towem for more than
ten years. It would be illogical to float a tender for the lease ofa
prcmise that the University has been occupying for that long.
The univenity has partitioned and fumished classrooms and
offices.
Therefore, after the expiry of the current lease on 3 I 

r December
the Universi2024 will a vemment valuer to
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ise for the next leasedetermine the rent payable for the prem

period.

How it wcs Rcsolved
The difrerence was brought about by a prior year adjustrnent

made in the Cash Flow statement on the amount spenl on the

Durchase of equipment for an NRF-funded projeo The

no".a"ry corr€clions were made in the financial statements as

prior year adj uslments.

Cash llob,s ftom financing activilles:
NRF 

-Equipment -Granl 
of kshs. 56 Million was a concessional

infrastrucoral grdnt from National Research Fund' lt was

accounted as c;h and cash equivalent in FY20l8/2019 as well

as payable as per the conlract. The funds are capitalized once

thcagreed equipment was purchased and put into use'

Wrys io Prcvent Recurrence

i) This issue has been resolved.

iil Coing forward, the Univenity will ensurc that any prior

year adjustment made is explained adequately.

iii) The Univenity has established a team that will review

financial reports before they are submitted to the

auditors.

ResolvedFinance
0fiiccrThe Detrils ofthe Issue

The statement ofcash flows reflects n€t cash flow
fiom operating activities of Kshs.105,085,517 in
respect of 2o2ol2o2l. However, the audited

financial statemens for 202012021 reflect a
different balanc€ of Kshs. I 36,54 l,0l 7. Further,

the same statement reflects net cash flow from
financing activities of Kshs.265,046,833 with
respect to 202012021. However, the audited

2O2Ot2O2l financial statements reflect
Kshs.233,591,333 wilh respect to the same

item. Managemenl did not provide an

explanation or reconciliation for the variances

noted. ln the circumstances, the accuracy and

completeness of the statement of cash flows for
the year ended 306 June 2022. could not be

confirmed.

4 Accur.cy of
thc Strtcmetrt
ofCrsh Flows

PART B: OTHER MAITERS

During th€ financial year 2021/22, there was an expenditure

over and above the approved budget ofKShs. 285,910,300' The

reason why the University did nor wfite to the Nalional Treasury

for approval of the excess expenditure was that the main cause

of the adverse variance was the Depreciation Expense which is

a non-cash flow allocation foriture. The

Thc Dctrils of ahe Issue
The statement of comparison of budget and

amounts for the year rcflects rhe final budgeted

revenue of Kshs.1,122,613,055 and the actual

rcvenue of Kshs.1,254,466,392 resulting in a net

reverue surpfus of Kshs.l 31,853,337 ot l2Yo of
In addit the statement reflects thethe

l. Budgetrry
Control rnd
Pcrformencc
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final budgeted expenditure of
Kshs.l,122,613,055 and the actual expenditure of
Kshs. I ,408,523,3 55 resulting in a net over-
expenditure of Kshs.285,910,300 or 25% of the
budget. Further, there was no evidence provided
by the Management for audit to show if a
supplementary budget was approved for the over-
expenditure of Kshs.285,910,300 conrary to
Section 12 of the State Corpomtion Act, 2010
which provides that no State Corporation shall,
without prior approval in w ting ofthe Minister
and The National Treasury incur any expenditure
for which a provision has not been made in the
annual estimates. In the circumstances,
Management was in breach ofthe law

Depreciation Expenses was KShs.2,773,087 but the actual
expenditure was KShs. 144,000,637. Therefore, out of the
variance of KShs. 286 million, Depreciation Expense
c.ntributed KShs. l4l million. The over expenditure brought
about by other expenses other than deprcciation was Kshs.58
Million which translates to 5% ofthe total budget.

Wrys to Prcvent Recurr€nce
i) The University will continue to adhere to the requirements

of the PFM Act and the Regulalions as well as the various
guidelines from the National Treasury.

ii) The University will allocate enough funds for each budget
line

2.Unremlved
Prior Year
Mrtters

The Details ofthe Issue

There were issues raised in the audit report for the
202012021 financial year. However, the issues
remain unresolved contrary to Section 149(2)(l)
of the Public Finance Management Acr, 2012
which requires Accounting Oflicers in respect of
the entity concemd to try to resolve any issues
resulting from an audit that remain outstanding.

How it was Resolved
The Univenity had not received the audit report for the financial
yw 2020121 by the date of the audit report. The issues
presented in Appendix I relate to 201912020 as per the latest
audit report received by the end of September 2022. The
audited report for FY 2020121 was received in November 2022
and as such, the finaacial report for the 2021 /2022 financial yar
had already been approved by the Council and presented for
audit.
In other words, we did not have the audit issues for the previous
financial year at the time ofthe audit. When they were received,
subsequently, they were resolved accordingly.

c) Ways to Prev€trt Recurrenc€
i) The University includes all issues raised by the auditor in

progress reports that form part of financial statements for
the year.

ii) All the issues raised in an audit report will be resolved
within a month.
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How it wss Resolvcd
The project is fully funded by the Govemment. As per the

2020721 budget estimates, the Project was allocated KShs'

124,591,334 Lut only KShs. 62,295,667 was released. ln FY

2021122, a total of KShs. 122,093,673 was to be allocated for

the project but only KShs. 40 million was released. Again' in

$eiy zozztzl, atotal ofKShs. 100,408,666 was requested for

the project but only KShs. l0 million was allocated by the

government and only KShs. 2,500,000 was released. Therefore,

the delay was occasioned by the reduced disbursement of funds

by the Exchequer. That has made the contractor to abandon the

work since interim certificates raised were not being honoured.

The UniveBity has written to the exchequer for release of funds

through the Ministry of Education. Follow-ups are being done

to ensurc that the project does not delay further.

c) Wrys to Prevcnt R€currenc!
The Univenity has extended the provisional completion date

subject to the availability of funds from the GoK.
Before any project is initiated at the UniveBity, a project

concept note will be done fint. The concepl note takes into

account the viability of the project in terms of funding. For the

projects that are GOK financed, the concurrence ofthe Ministry
of 

-Education 
and the approval by the National Treasury is

mandatory.

3.Deleyed
Complctiotr
of Sports
Field

Thc dcteils ofthe Issue
The statement of financial position and as

disclosed in Note l8 to the financial stalements

reflects a property, plant, and equipment balance

of Kshs. 2,630,851,248 which includes Kshs.

928,853,555 with respect to work-in-progress,

out of which Kshs. 171,537,625 relata to the

construction of sports fields. Records indicate

that the Univenity entered into a contract for the

construction of sports fields on 306 July 2020 at

a cost of Kshl 232,742,353 for a performance
period of twenty-nine (29) weeks. commencing
from 146 September 2020 with an expectd
completion dae of 2d March 2021, which was

later extended to 30t Ocrober 2023. At the sarne

time of audit in Decrmber 2022, the total works
completed amounted to Kshs. 171,537,624 or
74olo ofthe contract sum.
However, an audit inspection conducted in
December 2022 reveald that the prcject had

stalled, and the contractor was not on

site. Further, no document or record was

provided to confirm the overall completion level

and reasons for the delay. In the circumstances,
the value for money for the exp€nditurc amounl

ofKshs. 171,537,625 could not be confirmed.

How it wes Resolved
Recruitment of senior university management is undertaken by

the Public Service Commission (PSC) in accordance with

circular ref: PSC/LEG/GEN/0061056/Xl(16) dated l4th
February 2019 the university is required to make a formal

ffai felcademi

tiforadverti

forPSC recru Unent.o thearat on ofdec vacancyany
Ats rsandc S udenfo D C As noThe po

theouncC throUthe versnlThereafter ugh2ln 0 9vacant ty
on no 296sed thelolss nbtu c ervlS Cce ommP

Thc Deteils ofthe Issue
During the year under review, the University paid

Kshs.95l,627 to two (2) senior academic staff as

acting allowance. However, a rcview of human

resource records provided for audit revealed that

the two staffmembers had acted for more than six
months contrary to Section C.l4(l) ofthe Public
Sewice Commission Human Resources Policies

201 6 which states that when an officer isManual

4.Deleyed
Appointment
of Senior
Acrdemic
stllt

a
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eligible for appointment to a higher post and is
called upon to act in that post pending
advertisement of the posl, he is eligible for
payment ofacting allowance at the rate oftwenty
Wrcent (20o/o) of his substantive basic
salary. The acting allowance will not be payable
to an officer for more than six (6) months. No
plausible explanation was given on why the
University was unable to appoint substantive
holden for the two positions through a
competitive recruitment process.

October 2019. The re€ruitment process was concluded and the
persons nominated for appointment were submitted to the CS
Ministry of Education on 4n March 2020. The Ministry delayed
issuing the appointment, and the Univenity Council in its
meeting held on t56 July 2022 wrcte to rhe PSC to have the
position re-advertised. The position was re-advertised on 20n
September 2022 utd the process of recruitment has been
concluded.
The issue has been resolved partially. The position of DVC
(Academic and Students Affairs) was subslantively filled in
May 2023. The position of Registrar (Academic and Students
Affairs) remains vacant.

c) Wrys to Prevent Recurrence
i. The University is in the process of recruiting the Registrar

in charge ofacademic and student affairs.
ii. The Human Resource Department has put in place the

succession plan for all cadre of staffin the University.
iii. Arrangements to fill oflices thal are likely to fall vacant

will be initiated at least six months prior to the due date.

5. Reccivrbl
€s fmm
Exchange
Trrnsrctions

- Student
Debtors

Tbe Details ofthe Issue
The statement of financial position and as

disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements
reflects Kshs.l16,174,595 with respect to
receivables from exchange transactions which
further include students' debtors of
Kshs.l I 4,696,875. However, measures taken by
Unive6ity Management to ensure collection of
the outstanding student debt ofKshs.l 14,696,875
was not provided for audit review contrary to
Regulation 64(l[a) and (b) ofthe Public Finance
Management (National Govemment)
Regulations, 2015. In the circumstances, the
University was in breach of the law and the

How it wrs Resolved
The aging analysis has been provided. The long outstanding
debts (more than a year) are a result ofstudents who were unable
to pay fees for a semester and the students had to drop out in the
middle ofthe semester. The students are expected to pay the fees
and continue with the semester. However, many of these
students come from extremely poor farnilies and many never
resume studies. They become drop out. The invoiced amount is
not income to the University because the students have ben
billed but have not received the services . ln the FY 2022/23, any
such bills older than three years were cancelled.

Ways to Prevent Recurrence
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(Fee Payment Policy). The Fee Payment Policy' A
student who has not cleared fees in the first thrce weeks

is expected to call off the semester. Any fees thal had

been billed are reversed.

ii. It is the University policy that only students with nil fees

balance can graduate. There are a number of studenls

who have completed their studies but have not

gnduated due to the facl that they have a fee balance'

These individuals must clear fees beforc they can he

allowed to graduale.

The fe€s debt from the drop outs to be written off. The

Univenity will only recognize debts from students who

received the service for the semester and not from the students

The University has alrcadY developed a credit Policy

who out in the course of the res s€mester.

recoverability of the outstanding student debt
Kshs.l 14,696,875 is doubttul

of

Vicr Chrncellor
Date: Scptembcr 14, 2023

Chrirpcnxrn cC
Dete: Scptembcr l4' 2023
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APPENDIX II: PROJECTS IMPLEMENTED BY THE ENTITY

Projects implemented by Meru University funded by development partners:

Consfuction of Sports
fields GOK Jul-20 - Juno 23 't0,000,000 No

l
Ycs

Yoc

Ycs

ooK

Marieno Institute:
Adminishtion and
loctur€ dleetre

Marie,ne Institute:
Modem Library

Status of Projects Completion

OOK Jul-20 -June23 60,000,000 No

GOK Jul-20 - June 23 60,000,000 No

673,t31,87t 643,13I,871 98% 10,000,000

600,000,000 171,537,625 29% 20,000,000 GOK

I

2

Enginoaing
Complex

Construction of
Sports fields

, Nuning and
3 Health Sciencc

I Buildhg
Mariene lnstitute:

. Administration+ and lecture
theatre

I Marienc tn$itute:
5 r Scioncc

I laboruories
Mariene

6 Institute:
Modem Library

I

500,000,000 71,308,037 14%'30,000,m0

230,000,000 80,003,940 35% 60,000,000

150,000,000 80,405,337 54% I 60,000,000

t50,000,000 77.104,t90

GOK

GOK

@K
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APPENDIX V: REPORTTNG OF CLIMATE RELEVANT EXPENDITURES
Meru Univenity of Science and Technology
Telephone Number: +254704508454

Email:vc@must.ac.ke
Vice Chancellor: Prof. Romanus Odhiambo
Contact on: Frarco Mutua email: fmu must.ac.ke

Ql

300,000

Q2

300.000

a3

300,000

al
300,000Chancellor's

Foresl
Planting of trees
to ensure
university is

207o covered and
all naked hills in
the
neighborhood
are reforested
Building of
customized
toilets and
construction of a
laboratory to
enable
conversion of
human fteces
into organic
fertilizer using
insects. lns€cls
are used as high
nutitional
animal feeds
This is a

capacity-
building project

To fight soil erosion
either due lo run offs or
string winds
Improve the
environment

Internally
generated

funds
(Sponsored

Dr. James

Mwangi
The
Chancellor )
Intgnally
generafed

fimds.
Res€arch
Furds
Solicited by
Dr. Joy
Riungu.

Nuffic k
lnternally

N/A

Meru
University
dons and
local
schools

Meru
university,
Siala TTC.

o Planting oflrees
every rainy
season

. Maintenance of
already
planted trees

. Consruction of 0
a laboratory

. Building of
customized
toilets

o Training of
ssnitation
experts

o Colleclion of
faecal matters
and converting
them into
nlanure

4,4t6,968 5,773,302

Facililate training 4,010,290 4.813,630 1.349.740 1.658,850

of lrainers on

Saniorion
Project

EPivol-Water
Project

o Provide solution to
disposal of human
f€acal matter

o Turn the facces from
waste to a resouce

Review existing
programmes & develop new

TVE-Based curricula aimed

0

I
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aimed at
shengthening
the capacity of
Technical
Vocational
Educdional
Training
(TYET) Cent€s
through a strong
col laboration
between the
education
institutions and
private sector.
The project
specializes in

at cquipping leamers with
rclevant skills and
competencies in designing
and implernentation of
water harvesting structures.

Equipping of Agricultural,
engineering lab & demo
farms with modem taining
equipmant/modules to
enable students acquire
practical stills.

Implementation of
community bosed projects

aimed al promoting
adoption of smart
agricultule technologies by
local farmers.

rcuew
curricula

Perform induction
training to local
trainers on how to
op€rste and
optimally utilize
the acquired
lab/field
instruments.

Facilitate local
farmers develop
earth pans for rain
water harvesting 

,

and install sensor
based irrigation
systems for
efficient \4atering
crops using drip
line inigation.

of generated

fimd
Research

Funds
Solicited by
Pmf.
Romanus
Odhiambo
ftom
NufiiC- The
Netherlands.

Ah€ro
Vocatonal
Collego
KEWI
Tharaka
TTI &
Meru
National
Pollechnic

horticulture
thereby linking
the green

'education pillar
to private sector.tl
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Date: 30 JUNE 2023

EDtity: Meru University ofScience end Technologl
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Yerr
2022/23

Pcriod to which thls
rt refcrs

Franco MutuaNeme of Reporting
Of,icer

Tchpbone
+254704508454

Entail
ust.ac.keusl.ac ere rtin oflicer:

Cortrct dctrils ofthe

Column VIIColumn
VI

Columtr VColumn [VColumn Il Colunn IIIColumn I

CommentsAmount
(KShs)

Expenditure
item

Crtegory of disastcr rclrted
r.quirc exPenditure

Activity thrt
reporting

rensc/rccov /mit tion/ redness

Dlsrstel
Type

Sub-
pnogmmme

Prognmme

Alcohol 98%
athanol-
Causrre Soda

and digr"J
non-contact
inliared
Thermometer

The university
purchased raw
material and
using
Chemistry
Depaltrnent
marufactured
saritizer for
internal use.

146,000Response, Recovery & MitigationN/A

Epidemics
and
Pandemics
(Covid-19)

University of
and

Technology

Meru
SciCnce

t
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